CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON CO N V

Form 10-Q April 24, 2018

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF $^{\rm X}$ 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2018

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF $^{\rm o}$ 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 1-12815

CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.

The Netherlands Prinses Beatrixlaan 35 98-0420223

(State or other jurisdiction 2505 AV TV VV (I.R.S. Employer Identification

of 2595 AK The Hague No.)

incorporation or

organization) The Netherlands

31 70 373 2010

(Address and telephone number of principal executive

offices)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

x Yes o No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

x Yes o No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer o (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company o

Emerging growth company o

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards o provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). o Yes \times No

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock as of April 16, 2018 – 102,548,319

CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.

Table of Contents

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION	Page
Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	
Statements of Operations—Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 and 2017	<u>3</u>
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) —Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 and 2017	4
Balance Sheets—March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017	<u>5</u>
Statements of Cash Flows—Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 and 2017	<u>6</u>
Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity—Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 and 2017	7
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	<u>8</u>
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>31</u>
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>48</u>
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	<u>48</u>
PART II—OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1. Legal Proceedings	<u>48</u>
Item 1A. Risk Factors	<u>48</u>
Item 6. Exhibits	<u>49</u>
<u>Signatures</u>	<u>50</u>
2	

Table of Contents

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

	Three Months Ended		
	March 31,		
	2018	2017	
	(Unaudited))	
Revenue	\$1,745,619	\$1,827,352	
Cost of revenue	1,572,520	1,676,401	
Gross profit	173,099	150,951	
Selling and administrative expense	64,498	73,057	
Intangibles amortization	6,552	6,486	
Equity earnings	(9,444) (7,611)	
Restructuring related costs	5,110	_	
Other operating (income) expense, net	(1,314) 31	
Income from operations	107,697	78,988	
Interest expense	(52,452) (24,101)	
Interest income	577	1,228	
Income from operations before taxes	55,822	56,115	
Income tax expense	(11,164) (13,704)	
Net income from continuing operations	44,658	42,411	
Net income from discontinued operations		9,494	
Net income	44,658	51,905	
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (\$0 and \$413 related to	(764) (27,250	
discontinued operations)	(704) (27,250)	
Net income attributable to CB&I	\$43,894	\$24,655	
Net income attributable to CB&I per share (Basic):			
Continuing operations	\$0.43	\$0.16	
Discontinued operations	_	0.09	
Total	\$0.43	\$0.25	
Net income attributable to CB&I per share (Diluted):			
Continuing operations	\$0.43	\$0.15	
Discontinued operations		0.09	
Total	\$0.43	\$0.24	
Weighted average shares outstanding:			
Basic	102,333	100,451	
Diluted	102,627	101,360	
Cash dividends on shares:			
Amount	\$ —	\$7,047	
Per share	\$ —	\$0.07	
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial S	Statements.		

Table of Contents

CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (In thousands)

	Three Months		
	Ended March 31,		
	2018 2017		
	(Unaudited)		
Net income	\$44,658 \$51,905		
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:			
Change in cumulative translation adjustment	15,866 24,410		
Change in unrealized fair value of cash flow hedges	(72) 353		
Change in unrecognized prior service pension credits/costs	(52) (76)		
Change in unrecognized actuarial pension gains/losses	(3,918) (1,433)		
Other comprehensive income from discontinued operations - change in cumulative translation adjustment	— 495		
Comprehensive income	56,482 75,654		
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (\$0 and \$413 related to discontinued operations)	(764) (27,250)		
Change in cumulative translation adjustment attributable to noncontrolling interests	416 (970)		
Comprehensive income attributable to CB&I	\$56,134 \$47,434		
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statement	ents.		

Table of Contents

CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands)

	March 31, 2018	December 31, 2017
	(Unaudited)	
Assets	,	
Cash and cash equivalents (\$113,128 and \$165,771 related to variable interest entities ("VIEs"))	\$305,229	\$ 354,639
Accounts receivable, net (\$24,773 and \$42,288 related to VIEs)	766,123	759,701
Inventory	112,978	101,573
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings (\$183,988 and \$42,997 related to VIEs)		315,744
Assets held for sale	18,300	17,845
Other current assets (\$103,456 and \$163,810 related to VIEs)	224,833	281,171
Total current assets	1,820,052	1,830,673
Equity investments	209,565	206,118
Property and equipment, net	415,665	418,531
Goodwill	2,838,836	2,836,582
Other intangibles, net	190,476	196,473
Other non-current assets (\$128,541 and \$74,067 related to VIEs)	545,979	483,205
Total assets	\$6,020,573	\$5,971,582
Liabilities		
Revolving facility and other short-term borrowings	\$1,388,151	\$1,102,151
Current maturities of long-term debt, net	1,145,358	1,160,291
Accounts payable (\$382,616 and \$348,872 related to VIEs)	950,075	971,735
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings (\$48,970 and \$130,484 related to VIEs)	1,155,780	1,275,441
Other current liabilities	618,210	752,294
Total current liabilities	5,257,574	5,261,912
Deferred income taxes	56,028	63,771
Other non-current liabilities	424,483	427,535
Total liabilities	5,738,085	5,753,218
Shareholders' Equity		
Common stock, Euro .01 par value; shares authorized: 250,000; shares issued: 108,857	1 200	1,288
and 108,857; shares outstanding: 102,547 and 101,705	1,288	1,200
Additional paid-in capital	715,932	743,128
Retained deficit	(57,802)	(101,696)
Treasury stock, at cost: 6,310 and 7,152 shares	(216,804)	(254,642)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(304,268)	(316,508)
Total CB&I shareholders' equity	138,346	71,570
Noncontrolling interests	144,142	146,794
Total shareholders' equity	282,488	218,364
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$6,020,573	\$5,971,582
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial S	Statements.	

Table of Contents

CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands)

	Three Mon March 31, 2018 (Unaudited	2017
Cash Flows from Operating Activities		
Net income	\$44,658	\$51,905
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	18,738	26,264
Amortization of debt issuance costs	7,929	1,469
Deferred income taxes	(2,602)	15,101
Stock-based compensation expense	9,137	10,247
Other operating income, net	(1,314)	(77)
Unrealized loss on foreign currency hedges	5,432	1,380
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Increase in receivables, net	(6,422)	(217,122)
Change in contracts in progress, net	(196,506)	
Increase in inventory	(11,405)	(12,346)
Decrease in accounts payable	(21,660)	(95,117)
(Increase) decrease in other current and non-current assets	(57,659)	12,062
Decrease in other current and non-current liabilities	(23,951)	(78,037)
(Increase) decrease in equity investments	(3,444)	953
Change in other, net	(1,242)	(1,307)
Net cash used in operating activities	(240,311)	(290,682)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities		
Capital expenditures	(8,099)	(12,274)
Advances with partners of proportionately consolidated ventures, net		(23,788)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment	742	1,108
Other, net	(25,844)	(8,342)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	18,814	(43,296)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities		
Revolving facility and other short-term borrowings, net	286,000	510,000
Advances with equity method and proportionately consolidated ventures and partners, net	(98,317)	47,099
Repayments on long-term debt	(18,750)	(300,000)
Purchase of treasury stock	(3,207)	(7,359)
Issuance of stock	4,120	3,877
Dividends paid		(7,047)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests	(3,000)	(18,985)
Capitalized debt issuance costs	(2,415)	
Net cash provided by financing activities	164,431	227,585
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	7,656	21,316
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(49,410)	(85,077)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	354,639	505,156
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	305,229	420,079
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period - discontinued operations	_	(17,782)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period - continuing operations	\$305,229	\$402,297
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial S	tatements.	

Table of Contents

CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.

 ${\tt CONDENSED} \ {\tt CONSOLIDATED} \ {\tt STATEMENTS} \ {\tt OF} \ {\tt CHANGES} \ {\tt IN} \ {\tt SHAREHOLDERS'} \ {\tt EQUITY}$

(In thousands, except per share data)

(in mousands, e	Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 Common Stock			Treasury Stock		Accumulated Other Non -		Total		
	Shares	Amoun	Additional Paid-In Capital	Retained Deficit	Shares	Amount	Other Comprehen (Loss) Income	Interests		ders
	(Unaudi	ted)					HICOHIE			
Balance at	()								
December 31,	101,705	\$1,288	\$743,128	\$(101,696)	7,152	\$(254,642)	\$(316,508) \$146,794	\$218,364	4
2017										
Net income	_	_		43,894	_	_	_	764	44,658	
Change in										
cumulative	_			_	_	_	16,282	(416	15,866	
translation							-, -	,	- ,	
adjustment, net										
Change in										
unrealized fair	_		_		_	_	(72) —	(72)
value of cash							`		`	
flow hedges, ne	t									
Change in										
unrecognized							(52	`	(52	`
prior service pension	_	_	_		_		(52) —	(52)
•	\ t									
credits/costs, ne Change in	દા									
unrecognized										
actuarial pensio							(3,918) —	(3,918)
gains/losses, ne										
Distributions to										
noncontrolling								(3,000	(3,000)
interests								(3,000	(3,000	,
Stock-based										
compensation	_		9,137				_		9,137	
expense			•						•	
Liability-based										
compensation			500						500	
fair value			592	_		_		_	592	
adjustment										
Purchase of	(181				181	(3,207)			(2.207	`
treasury stock	(101	, —	_		101	(3,207)	_		(3,207)
Issuance of	1,023		(36,925)		(1,023)	41.045			4,120	
stock	1,023		(30,923)		(1,023)	41,043	_		4,120	
Balance at	102,547	\$1.288	\$715 932	\$(57,802)	6 310	\$(216.804)	\$ (304.268) \$144,142	\$282,488	R
March 31, 2018	•				0,510	ψ(210,004)	ψ (304,200	<i>,</i> ψ1 77 ,1 7 2	Ψ 202, 700	J
			ed March 3	1, 2017					_	
	Common	Stock	Additional		Treasur	y Stock	Accumulate	d Non -	Total	

Edgar Filing: CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON CO N V - Form 10-Q

	Shares	Amoun	Paid-In Capital	Retained Earnings	Shares	Amount	Other Comprehens (Loss) Income	_	Shareholders' Equity
	(Unaudit	ted)							
Balance at December 31, 2016	100,113	\$1,288	\$782,130	\$1,370,606	8,744	\$(344,870)	\$(395,616)	\$147,799	\$1,561,337
Net income Change in	_	_	_	24,655	_	_	_	27,250	51,905
cumulative translation adjustment, net Change in	_	_	_	_	_	_	23,935	970	24,905
unrealized fair value of cash flow hedges, net	_	_	_	_	_	_	353	_	353
Change in unrecognized prior service pension credits/costs,	_	_	_	_	_	_	(76	_	(76)
net Change in unrecognized actuarial pension gains/losses,	_	_	_	_	_	_	(1,433	_	(1,433)
net Distributions to noncontrolling interests		_	_	_	_	_	_	(18,985)	(18,985)
Dividends paid (\$0.07 per share)	_	_	_	(7,047	· —	_	_	_	(7,047)
Stock-based compensation expense	_	_	10,247	_	_	_	_	_	10,247
Purchase of treasury stock	(219)	_	_	_	219	(7,359)	_	_	(7,359)
Issuance of stock	808	_	(35,219)		(808)	39,124		_	3,905
Balance at March 31, 2017	,100,702	\$1,288	\$757,158	\$1,388,214	8,155	\$(313,105)	\$(372,837)	\$157,034	\$1,617,752

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON COMPANY N.V.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31, 2018

(\$ and share values in thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Organization and Nature of Operations—Founded in 1889, Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V. ("CB&I", "we", "our", "us' the "Company") provides a wide range of services, including conceptual design, technology, engineering, procurement, fabrication, modularization, construction and commissioning services to customers in the energy infrastructure market throughout the world. Our business is aligned into three operating groups, which represent our reportable segments: Engineering & Construction; Fabrication Services; and Technology. During the first quarter 2018, we realigned our Fabrication Services operating group and Technology operating group to reflect the present management oversight of our operations. See Note 2 and Note 5 for discussion of our discontinued operations and Note 17 for further discussion of our reportable segments and related financial information.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting and Consolidation—The accompanying unaudited interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements ("Financial Statements") have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the United States ("U.S.") Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. ("U.S. GAAP"). These Financial Statements reflect all wholly-owned subsidiaries and those entities which we are required to consolidate. See the "Partnering Arrangements" section of this footnote for further discussion of our consolidation policy for those entities that are not wholly-owned. Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Basis of Presentation—We believe these Financial Statements include all adjustments, which are of a normal recurring nature, necessary for a fair presentation of our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, our financial position as of March 31, 2018 and our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017. The December 31, 2017 Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet (the "Balance Sheet(s)") was derived from our December 31, 2017 audited Consolidated Balance Sheet.

We believe the disclosures accompanying these Financial Statements are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC for interim reporting periods. The results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. The accompanying Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in our 2017 Annual Report. McDermott/CB&I Combination—On December 18, 2017, we entered into an agreement (the "Combination Agreement") to combine with McDermott International, Inc. ("McDermott") in an all-stock transaction whereby McDermott stockholders will own approximately 53% of the combined company and our shareholders will own approximately 47% (the "Combination"). Under the terms of the Combination Agreement, our shareholders would be entitled to receive 2.47221 shares of McDermott common stock for each share of our common stock (or 0.82407 shares if McDermott effects a planned three-to-one reverse stock split prior to closing), together with cash in lieu of fractional shares and subject to any applicable withholding taxes. A meeting of our shareholders and a meeting of McDermott stockholders to vote on their respective Combination-related proposals have each been scheduled for May 2, 2018. The Combination is anticipated to close in the second quarter 2018, subject to receipt of approval of our shareholders and McDermott stockholders, and satisfaction of other customary closing conditions.

Discontinued Operations—On June 30, 2017, we completed the sale of our "Capital Services Operations" (primarily comprised of our former Capital Services reportable segment) to CSVC Acquisition Corp ("CSVC"). We considered the Capital Services Operations to be a discontinued operation, and accordingly, its operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2017 are classified as a discontinued operation within our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (the "Statement(s) of Operations"). Cash flows of the Capital Services Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 are not reported separately within our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (the

"Statement(s) of Cash Flows"). Unless otherwise noted, the values presented throughout the notes to our Financial Statements relate to our continuing operations. See Note 5 for further discussion of our discontinued operations.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Use of Estimates—The preparation of our Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We believe the most significant estimates and judgments are associated with (i) revenue recognition for our contracts, including estimating costs to complete each contract and the recognition of incentive fees and unapproved change orders and claims; (ii) fair value and recoverability assessments that must be periodically performed with respect to long-lived tangible assets, goodwill and other intangible assets; (iii) valuation of deferred tax assets and financial instruments; (iv) the determination of liabilities related to self-insurance programs and income taxes; and (v) consolidation determinations with respect to our partnering arrangements. If the underlying estimates and assumptions upon which our Financial Statements are based change in the future, actual amounts may differ from those included in the Financial Statements.

Other Operating (Income) Expense, Net—Other operating (income) expense, net generally represents (gains) losses associated with the sale or disposition of property and equipment.

Restructuring Related Costs—Restructuring related costs were \$5,100 for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and related to professional fees and severance costs, resulting primarily from our publicly announced cost reduction, facility rationalization and strategic initiatives. See Note 9 for further discussion of our restructuring related costs. Goodwill—Goodwill is not amortized to earnings, but instead is reviewed for impairment at least annually at a reporting unit level, absent any indicators of impairment or when other actions require an impairment assessment (such as a change in reporting units). We perform our annual impairment assessment during the fourth quarter of each year based on balances as of October 1. We identify a potential impairment by comparing the fair value of the applicable reporting unit to its net book value, including goodwill. If the net book value exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, we measure the impairment by comparing the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair value. To determine the fair value of our reporting units and test for impairment, we utilize an income approach (discounted cash flow method) as we believe this is the most direct approach to incorporate the specific economic attributes and risk profiles of our reporting units into our valuation model. This is consistent with the methodology used to determine the fair value of our reporting units in previous years. We generally do not utilize a market approach given the lack of relevant information generated by market transactions involving comparable businesses. However, to the extent market indicators of fair value become available, we consider such market indicators in our discounted cash flow analysis and determination of fair value. See Note 7 for further discussion of our goodwill.

Other Long-Lived Assets—We amortize our finite-lived intangible assets on a straight-line basis with lives ranging from 6 to 20 years, absent any indicators of impairment. We review tangible assets and finite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a recoverability assessment is required, the estimated future cash flow associated with the asset or asset group will be compared to their respective carrying amounts to determine if an impairment exists. See Note 7 for further discussion of our intangible assets.

Earnings Per Share ("EPS")—Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net income attributable to CB&I by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conversion of dilutive securities, consisting of restricted shares, performance based shares (where performance criteria have been met), stock options and directors' deferred-fee shares. See Note 4 for calculations associated with basic and diluted EPS. Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents are considered to be highly liquid securities with original maturities of three months or less.

Inventory—Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value, and cost is determined using the first-in-first-out or weighted-average cost method. The cost of inventory includes acquisition costs, production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred to bring the inventory to a current location and condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. An allowance for excess or inactive inventory is recorded based on an analysis that considers current inventory levels, historical usage patterns, estimates of future sales expectations and salvage value. See Note 6 for further discussion of our inventory.

Foreign Currency—The nature of our business activities involves the management of various financial and market risks, including those related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The effects of translating financial statements of foreign operations into our reporting currency are recognized as a cumulative translation adjustment in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI"), which is net of tax, where applicable. Foreign currency transactional and re-measurement exchange gains (losses) are included within cost of revenue and were not material for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.

Financial Instruments—We do not engage in currency speculation; however, we utilize foreign currency exchange rate derivatives on an ongoing basis to hedge against certain foreign currency related operating exposures. We generally seek hedge accounting treatment for contracts used to hedge operating exposures and designate them as cash flow hedges. Therefore, gains and losses, exclusive of credit risk and forward points (which represent the time value component of the fair value of our

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

derivative positions), are included in AOCI until the associated underlying operating exposure impacts our earnings. Changes in the fair value of (i) credit risk and forward points, (ii) instruments deemed ineffective during the period, and (iii) instruments that we do not designate as cash flow hedges are recognized within cost of revenue. For those contracts designated as cash flow hedges, we document all relationships between the derivative instruments and associated hedged items, as well as our risk-management objectives and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives to specific firm commitments or highly-probable forecasted transactions. We continually assess, at inception and on an ongoing basis, the effectiveness of derivative instruments in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the designated hedged items. Hedge accounting designation is discontinued when (i) it is determined that the derivative is no longer highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the hedged item, including firm commitments or forecasted transactions, (ii) the derivative is sold, terminated, exercised, or expires, (iii) it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur, or (iv) we determine that designating the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate. See Note 11 for further discussion of our financial instruments.

Income Taxes—Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis using currently enacted income tax rates for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance ("VA") is provided to offset any net deferred tax assets ("DTA(s)") if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the DTAs will not be realized. The realization of our net DTAs depends upon our ability to generate sufficient future taxable income of the appropriate character and in the appropriate jurisdictions. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had a VA against our U.S. net operating loss DTAs, and our remaining U.S. and non-U.S. net DTAs, as we do not believe it is more likely than not that we will utilize our net DTAs. See our 2017 Form 10-K for further discussion of our VA assessments.

Income tax and associated interest and penalty reserves, where applicable, are recorded in those instances where we consider it more likely than not that additional tax will be due in excess of amounts reflected in income tax returns filed worldwide, irrespective of whether or not we have received tax assessments. We continually review our exposure to additional income tax obligations and, as further information is known or events occur, changes in our tax and penalty reserves may be recorded within income tax expense and changes in interest reserves may be recorded in interest expense.

Partnering Arrangements—In the ordinary course of business, we execute specific projects and conduct certain operations through joint venture, consortium and other collaborative arrangements (collectively referred to as "venture(s)"). We have various ownership interests in these ventures, with such ownership typically proportionate to our decision making and distribution rights. The ventures generally contract directly with the third party customer; however, services may be performed directly by the ventures, or may be performed by us, our partners, or a combination thereof.

Venture net assets consist primarily of working capital and property and equipment, and assets may be restricted from being used to fund obligations outside of the venture. These ventures typically have limited third party debt or have debt that is non-recourse in nature. However, they may provide for capital calls to fund operations or require participants in the venture to provide additional financial support, including advance payment or retention letters of credit.

Each venture is assessed at inception and on an ongoing basis as to whether it qualifies as a VIE under the consolidations guidance in ASC 810. A venture generally qualifies as a VIE when it (i) meets the definition of a legal entity, (ii) absorbs the operational risk of the projects being executed, creating a variable interest, and (iii) lacks sufficient capital investment from the partners, potentially resulting in the venture requiring additional subordinated financial support, if necessary, to finance its future activities.

If at any time a venture qualifies as a VIE, we perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE and, therefore, need to consolidate the VIE. We are the primary beneficiary if we have (i) the power to direct the economically significant activities of the VIE and (ii) the right to receive benefits from, and

obligation to absorb losses of, the VIE. If the venture is a VIE and we are the primary beneficiary, or we otherwise have the ability to control the venture, we consolidate the venture. If we determine that we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIE, or only have the ability to significantly influence, rather than control the venture, we do not consolidate the venture. We account for unconsolidated ventures using either (i) proportionate consolidation for both the Balance Sheet and Statement of Operations, when we meet the applicable accounting criteria to do so, or (ii) utilize the equity method. See Note 8 for further discussion of our material partnering arrangements.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

New Revenue Recognition Standard—In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, which provides a single comprehensive accounting standard for revenue recognition for contracts with customers and supersedes current industry-specific guidance, including ASC 605-35. The new standard requires companies to recognize revenue when control of promised goods or services is transferred to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods or services. The new model requires companies to identify contractual performance obligations and determine whether revenue should be recognized at a point in time or over time for each of these obligations. The new standard also significantly expands disclosure requirements regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. We adopted the new standard on January 1, 2018 ("Adoption Date"), using the modified retrospective method, which provides for a cumulative effect adjustment to beginning 2018 retained earnings for those uncompleted contracts impacted by the adoption of the new standard. The changes to the method and/or timing of our revenue recognition associated with our adoption of the new standard primarily relate to our third party pipe and steel fabrication and "non-generic" catalyst manufacturing contracts, which were previously recognized at a point in time upon shipment; however, under the new standard revenue is recognized over time utilizing the cost to cost measure of progress. In addition, we combined certain contracts that historically had been accounted for as separate contracts. Due to the low level of backlog at December 31, 2017 for our contracts impacted by the new standard, no adjustment to beginning 2018 retained earnings resulted from adoption of the new standard.

Further, the difference in our results for the first quarter 2018 between application of the new standard on our contracts and what results would have been if such contracts had been reported using the accounting standards previously in effect for such contracts, was not material. Consistent with our adoption method, the comparative prior period information for 2017 has not been recast and continues to be reported using the previous accounting standards in effect for the period presented. Additionally, we have elected to utilize the modified retrospective transition practical expedient that allows us to evaluate the impact of contract modifications as of the Adoption Date rather than evaluating the impact of the modifications at the time they occurred prior to the Adoption Date. There was no material effect associated with the election of this practical expedient.

See Note 3 for additional discussion of our revenue recognition accounting policies and expanded disclosures required by the new standard.

Other New Accounting Standards—In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-02, which requires the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for most lease arrangements with a term greater than one year, and increases qualitative and quantitative disclosures regarding leasing transactions. The standard is effective for us in the first quarter 2019, although early adoption is permitted. Transition requires application of the new guidance at the beginning of the earliest comparative balance sheet period presented utilizing a modified retrospective approach. We are assessing the timing of adoption of the new standard and its potential impact on our Financial Statements.

In December 2017, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 118 to address the application of U.S. GAAP in situations in which a registrant does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Reform Act") which was signed into law on December 22, 2017. In March 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-05, which amended ASC 740 to incorporate the requirements of SAB 118. We recognized the provisional tax impacts of the Tax Reform Act in the fourth quarter 2017. During first quarter 2018, we did not receive any additional information regarding these provisional calculations. As a result, we continue to anticipate finalizing our analysis in connection with the completion of our tax return for 2017 to be filed in 2018.

In January 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, which gives entities the option to reclassify to retained earnings the tax effects resulting from the Tax Reform Act related to items in AOCI that the FASB refers to as having been stranded in AOCI. The standard may be applied retrospectively to each period in the year of adoption. The standard will also require new disclosures regarding our accounting policy for releasing the tax effects in AOCI. The standard is effective for us in the first quarter 2019, although early adoption is permitted. We are assessing the timing of

adoption of the new standard and its potential impact on our Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

3. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Contracts—Our revenue is primarily derived from long-term contracts with customers and we determine the appropriate accounting treatment for each contract at contract inception. Our contracts primarily relate to engineering, procurement and construction ("EPC") services; engineering services; construction services; pipe and steel fabrication services; engineered and manufactured products; technology licensing; and catalyst supply. An EPC contract may also include technology licensing or fabrication services and our services may be provided between, or amongst, our reportable segments.

Our contracts are awarded on a competitively bid and negotiated basis and the timing of revenue recognition may be impacted by the terms of such contracts. We use a range of contracting options, including cost-reimbursable, fixed-price and hybrid, which has both cost-reimbursable and fixed-price characteristics. Fixed-price contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant fixed-price component, tend to provide us with greater control over project schedule and the timing of when work is performed and costs are incurred, and accordingly, when revenue is recognized. Cost-reimbursable contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant cost-reimbursable component, generally provide our customers with greater influence over the timing of when we perform our work, and accordingly, such contracts often result in less predictability with respect to the timing of revenue recognition. Performance Obligations—A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the unit of account in ASC Topic 606. The transaction price of a contract is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. To the extent a contract is deemed to have multiple performance obligations, we allocate the transaction price of the contract to each performance obligation using our best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. In addition, certain contracts may be combined and deemed to be a single performance obligation. Our EPC contracts are generally deemed to be single performance obligations and our contracts with multiple performance obligations were not material as of March 31, 2018.

Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time—Revenue for our contracts that satisfy the criteria for over time recognition is recognized as the work progresses. Revenue for contracts recognized over time include our EPC services; engineering services; construction services; pipe and steel fabrication services; engineered and manufactured products; technology licensing; and "non-generic" catalyst supply. We measure transfer of control of the performance obligation utilizing the cost-to-cost measure of progress, with cost of revenue including direct costs, such as materials and labor, and indirect costs that are attributable to contract activity. Under the cost-to-cost approach, the use of estimated costs to complete each performance obligation is a significant variable in the process of determining recognized revenue and is a significant factor in the accounting for such performance obligations. Significant estimates that impact the cost to complete each performance obligation are: costs of engineering, materials, components, equipment, labor and subcontracts; labor productivity; schedule durations, including subcontractor or supplier progress; contract disputes, including claims; achievement of contractual performance requirements; and contingency, among others. The cumulative impact of revisions in total cost estimates during the progress of work is reflected in the period in which these changes become known, including, to the extent required, the reversal of profit recognized in prior periods and the recognition of losses expected to be incurred on performance obligations in progress. Due to the various estimates inherent in our contract accounting, actual results could differ from those estimates, which could result in material changes to our Financial Statements and related disclosures. For the three months ended March 31, 2018, approximately \$1,701,200 of our revenue was subject to over time revenue

Performance Obligations Satisfied at a Point in Time—Revenue for our contracts that do not satisfy the criteria for over time recognition is recognized at a point in time. Revenue for contracts recognized at a point in time include our "generic" catalyst supply and certain manufactured products (which are recognized upon shipment) and certain non-engineering and non-construction services (which are recognized when the services are performed). For the three months ended March 31, 2018, approximately \$44,400 of our revenue was subject to point in time revenue recognition.

Precontract costs are generally charged to cost of revenue as incurred, but in certain cases their recognition may be deferred if specific probability criteria are met. We had no significant deferred precontract costs at March 31, 2018. Variable Consideration—Transaction price for our contracts may include variable consideration, which includes increases to transaction price for approved and unapproved change orders, claims and incentives, and reductions to transaction price for liquidated damages. Change orders, claims and incentives are generally not distinct from the existing contract due to the significant integration service provided in the context of the contract and are accounted for as a modification of the existing contract and performance obligation. We estimate variable consideration for a performance obligation at the most likely amount to which we expect to be entitled (or the most likely amount we expect to incur in the case of liquidated damages), utilizing estimation methods that best predict the amount of consideration to which we will be entitled (or will be incurred in the case of

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

liquidated damages). We include variable consideration in the estimated transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur or when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. Our estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in transaction price are based largely on an assessment of our anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available to us. The effect of variable consideration on the transaction price of a performance obligation is recognized as an adjustment to revenue on a cumulative catch-up basis. To the extent unapproved change orders and claims reflected in transaction price (or excluded from transaction price in the case of liquidated damages) are not resolved in our favor, or to the extent incentives reflected in transaction price are not earned, there could be reductions in, or reversals of, previously recognized revenue. See Note 16 for further discussion of our recorded unapproved change orders, claims and incentives.

Accounts Receivable and Contract Balances—The timing of when we bill our customers is generally dependent upon advance billing terms, milestone billings based on the completion of certain phases of the work, or when services are provided or products are shipped. Projects with performance obligations recognized over time that have costs and estimated earnings recognized to date in excess of cumulative billings, are reported on our Balance Sheets as costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings (i.e. contract assets). Projects with performance obligations recognized over time that have cumulative billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings recognized to date, are reported on our Balance Sheets as billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings (i.e. contract liabilities). The net balances on our Balance Sheets are collectively referred to as Contracts in Progress, net, and the components of these balances at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 were as follows:

	March 31, 2018		December 31, 2017 (1)	
	Asset	Liability	Asset	Liability
Costs and estimated earnings on contracts in progress	\$7,237,037	\$28,001,671	\$7,267,316	\$26,901,501
Billings on contracts in progress	(6,844,448)	(29,157,451)	(6,951,572)	(28,176,942)
Contracts in progress, net	\$392,589	\$(1,155,780)	\$315,744	\$(1,275,441)
(1) D 1		1		. 1 1

(1) Balances as of December 31, 2017 have not been recast for the impact of the adoption of the new standard. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we recognized revenue of approximately \$688,100 that was included in the corresponding Contracts in Progress liability balance at December 31, 2017.

Any uncollected billed amounts for our performance obligations recognized over time, including contract retentions, are recorded within accounts receivable. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, accounts receivable included contract retentions of approximately \$70,000 and \$61,500, respectively. Contract retentions due beyond one year were approximately \$21,900 and \$19,000 at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Any uncollected billed amounts and unbilled receivables for our performance obligations recognized at a point in time are recorded within accounts receivable and were approximately \$6,900 and \$6,000 at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

Our billed and unbilled revenue may be exposed to potential credit risk if our customers should encounter financial difficulties, and we maintain reserves for specifically-identified potential uncollectible receivables. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, our allowances for doubtful accounts were not material.

Backlog—Our remaining performance obligations (hereafter referred to as "backlog") represent the unrecognized revenue value of our contract commitments. New awards represent the total expected revenue value of new contract commitments received during a given period, as well as scope growth on existing contract commitments. New awards and backlog include the entire award values for joint ventures we consolidate and our proportionate share of award values for joint ventures we proportionately consolidate. As the net results for our equity method joint ventures are recognized as equity earnings, their revenue is not presented in our Statements of Operations, and accordingly, are excluded from our new awards and backlog. Our new awards may vary significantly each reporting period based on the timing of our major new contract commitments and our backlog may fluctuate with currency movements. At March 31, 2018, we had backlog of \$9,369,000 (excluding approximately \$1,131,500 for our unconsolidated equity method joint ventures). Approximately 50%, 35%, and 15% of our March 31, 2018 backlog is anticipated to be

recognized as revenue in 2018, 2019, and thereafter, respectively

Effect of Adopting ASC Topic 606—As discussed in Note 2, no adjustment to beginning 2018 retained earnings was recorded as a result of our adoption of ASC 606 due to changes in the methods and/or timing of our revenue recognition for our uncompleted contracts. Further, the difference in our results for the first quarter 2018 between application of the new standard on our contracts and what results would have been if such contracts had been reported using the accounting standards previously in effect for such contracts, was not material.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Disaggregation of Revenue—The following table represents the disaggregation of our revenue by end-market (or "product line") for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017:

	Three Months Ended		
	March 31,		
	2018	2017	
LNG (including low temp and cryogenic)	\$674,848	\$992,152	
Petrochemical	538,364	376,419	
Power	315,696	184,496	
Refining	138,144	124,646	
Gas processing	33,595	71,099	
Other	44,972	78,540	
Total revenue	\$1,745,619	\$1.827.352	

Changes in Project Estimates—See Note 16 for further discussion of our unapproved change orders, claims, incentives and other project matters, including impacts from changes in project estimates.

4. EARNINGS PER SHARE

A reconciliation of weighted average basic shares outstanding to weighted average diluted shares outstanding and the computation of basic and diluted EPS are as follows:

•	Three M Ended M 2018	onths Iarch 31, 2017
Net income from continuing operations attributable to CB&I (net of \$764 and \$26,837 of noncontrolling interests)	\$43,894	\$15,574
Net income from discontinued operations attributable to CB&I (net of \$0 and \$413 of noncontrolling interests)	_	9,081
Net income attributable to CB&I	\$43,894	\$24,655
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic Effect of restricted shares/performance based shares/stock options (1) Effect of directors' deferred-fee shares(1) Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted Net income attributable to CB&I per share (Basic):	275 19	100,451 892 17 101,360
Continuing operations	\$0.43	\$0.16
Discontinued operations	_	0.09
Total	\$0.43	\$0.25
Net income attributable to CB&I per share (Diluted):		
Continuing operations	\$0.43	\$0.15
Discontinued operations	_	0.09
Total	\$0.43	\$0.24

⁽¹⁾ Antidilutive shares excluded from diluted EPS were not material for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As discussed in Note 2, on June 30, 2017 we completed the sale of our Capital Services Operations to CSVC. Our Capital Services Operations provided comprehensive and integrated maintenance services, environmental engineering and remediation, construction services, program management, and disaster response and recovery services for private-sector customers and governments. We considered the Capital Services Operations to be a discontinued operation, and accordingly, its operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2017 are classified as a discontinued operation within our Statements of Operations. Cash flows of the Capital Services Operations for the

three months ended March 31, 2017 are not reported separately within our Statements of Cash Flows. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we paid approximately \$24,600 to CSVC associated with the finalization of working capital adjustments required by the purchase agreement. The anticipated working capital payment was accrued on the closing date and included in our Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2017, and accordingly, there was no impact on our operating results due to the payment.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Results of Operations—The results of our Capital Services Operations, which have been reflected within discontinued operations in our Statement of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017, were as follows:

Three

	Tince	
	Months	
	Ended	
	March 3	1,
	2017	
Revenue	\$552,94	7
Cost of revenue	518,687	
Gross profit	34,260	
Selling and administrative expense	13,038	
Intangibles amortization	2,550	
Other operating income	(372)
Income from operations	19,044	
Interest expense (1)	(6,863)
Interest income	9	
Income from operations before taxes	12,190	
Income tax expense	(2,696)
Net income from discontinued operations	9,494	
Net income from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling interests	(413)
Net income from discontinued operations attributable to CB&I	\$9,081	

Interest expense, including amortization of capitalized debt issuance costs, was allocated to the Capital Services

(1) Operations due to a requirement to use the proceeds from the transaction to repay our debt. The allocation of interest expense was based on the anticipated debt amounts to be repaid.

Cash Flows—Cash flows for our Capital Services Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 were as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2017

Operating cash flows \$(17,544)

Investing cash flows \$(844)

6. INVENTORY

The components of inventory at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 were as follows:

March 31, December 31,

2018 2017

Raw materials \$57,626 \$55,275

Work in process 22,233 15,652

Finished goods 33,119 30,646

Total \$112,978 \$101,573

7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

Goodwill

At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, our goodwill balances were \$2,838,836 and \$2,836,582, respectively, attributable to the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in connection with our acquisitions. The change in goodwill for the three months ended March 31, 2018 is as follows:

Total

Balance at December 31, 2017	\$2,836,582
Amortization of tax goodwill in excess of book goodwill	(3,971)
Foreign currency translation and other	6,225
Balance at March 31, 2018 (1)	\$2,838,836

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

At March 31, 2018, we had approximately \$453,100 of cumulative impairment losses which were recorded in our ⁽¹⁾ Engineering & Construction operating group during 2015 related to the sale of our nuclear power construction business (our "Nuclear Operations") on December 31, 2015.

As discussed further in Note 2, goodwill is not amortized to earnings, but instead is reviewed for impairment at least annually at a reporting unit level, absent any indicators of impairment or when other actions require an impairment assessment (such as a change in reporting units). We perform our annual impairment assessment during the fourth quarter of each year based on balances as of October 1.

Reporting Units—At December 31, 2017, we had the following four reporting units within our three operating groups: Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit.

Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group included two reporting units: Engineered Products and Fabrication Services (excluding Engineered Products).

Technology—Our Technology operating group represented a reporting unit.

During the first quarter 2018, we realigned our Fabrication Services and Technology operating groups to reflect the present management oversight of our operations. Our "Engineered Products Operations", which was previously reported within our Fabrication Services operating group, is now reported within our Technology operating group. In connection therewith, our Engineered Products reporting unit, which was previously a reporting unit with our Fabrication Services operating group, became a reporting unit within our Technology operating group. Accordingly, at March 31, 2018, we had the following four reporting units within our three operating groups:

Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit.

Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group represented a reporting unit.

Technology—Our Technology operating group included two reporting units: Engineered Products and Technology (excluding Engineered Products).

Impairment Assessment—During the fourth quarter 2017, we performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill for the aforementioned reporting units. Based on these quantitative assessments, the fair value of each of the reporting units substantially exceeded (in excess of 50%) their respective net book values, and accordingly, no impairment charge was necessary as a result of our impairment assessments. Further, during the first quarter 2018, no indicators of impairment were identified for any of our reporting units. In addition, no impairment assessments were required in connection with the realignment of our operating groups because the Engineered Products reporting unit represented a separate reporting unit before and after the realignment.

Other Intangible Assets

The following table presents our acquired finite-lived intangible assets at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, including the March 31, 2018 weighted-average useful lives for each major intangible asset class and in total:

		March 31, 2018		December	December 31, 2017	
		Gross	Accumulate	Gross	Accumulate	d
	Weighted Average Life	Carrying	Accumulated Amortization		Amortization	
		Amount	1 miloruzutioi	Amount	Timortizatio	
Backlog and customer relationships	18 Years	\$99,086	\$ (28,297	\$99,086	\$ (26,912)
Process technologies	15 Years	267,520	(156,773	265,742	(151,174)
Tradenames	12 Years	27,561	(18,621	27,479	(17,748)
Total (1)	16 Years	\$394,167	\$ (203,691	\$392,307	\$ (195,834)

The decrease in other intangibles, net during the three months ended March 31, 2018 primarily related to amortization expense of approximately \$6,600.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

8. PARTNERING ARRANGEMENTS

As discussed in Note 2, we account for our unconsolidated ventures using either proportionate consolidation, when we meet the applicable accounting criteria to do so, or the equity method. Further, we consolidate any venture that is determined to be a VIE for which we are the primary beneficiary, or which we otherwise effectively control.

Proportionately Consolidated Ventures—The following is a summary description of our significant joint ventures that have been accounted for using proportionate consolidation:

CB&I/Zachry—We have a venture with Zachry (CB&I—50% / Zachry—50%) to perform EPC work for two liquefied natural gas ("LNG") liquefaction trains in Freeport, Texas. Our proportionate share of the venture project value is approximately \$2,700,000. In addition, we have subcontract and risk sharing arrangements with Chiyoda to support our responsibilities to the venture. The costs of these arrangements are recorded in cost of revenue.

CB&I/Zachry/Chiyoda—We have a venture with Zachry and Chiyoda (CB&I—33.3% / Zachry—33.3% / Chiyoda—33.3%) to perform EPC work for an additional LNG liquefaction train at the aforementioned project site in Freeport, Texas. Our proportionate share of the venture project value is approximately \$675,000.

CB&I/Chiyoda—We have a venture with Chiyoda (CB&I—50% / Chiyoda—50%) to perform EPC work for three LNG liquefaction trains in Hackberry, Louisiana. Our proportionate share of the venture project value is approximately \$3,300,000.

The following table presents summarized balance sheet information for our share of our proportionately consolidated ventures:

	March 31,	December 31,
	2018	2017
CB&I/Zachry		
Current assets (1)	\$157,950	\$ 140,900
Non-current assets	427	1,096
Total assets	\$158,377	\$ 141,996
Current liabilities	\$150,538	\$ 171,953
CB&I/Zachry/Chiyoda		
Current assets (1)	\$102,379	\$ 98,680
Non-current assets	923	1,129
Total assets	\$103,302	\$ 99,809
Current liabilities	\$41,002	\$ 68,556
CB&I/Chiyoda		
Current assets (1)	\$108,998	\$ 92,767
Current liabilities	\$178,342	\$ 150,126

Our venture arrangements allow for excess working capital of the ventures to be advanced to the venture partners. Such advances are returned to the ventures for working capital needs as necessary. Accordingly, at a reporting

(1) period end a venture may have advances to its partners which are reflected as an advance receivable within current assets of the venture. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, other current assets of our ventures on the Balance Sheets included approximately \$80,600 and \$138,900, respectively, related to our proportionate share of advances from the ventures to our venture partners.

At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, other current liabilities on the Balance Sheets included approximately \$79,000 and \$138,600, respectively, related to advances to CB&I from the ventures.

Equity Method Ventures—The following is a summary description of our significant joint ventures which have been accounted for using the equity method:

CLG—We have a venture with Chevron (CB&I—50% / Chevron—50%) which provides proprietary process technology dicenses and associated engineering services and catalyst, primarily for the refining industry. As sufficient capital investments in CLG have been made by the venture partners, it does not qualify as a VIE.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

NET Power—We have a venture with Exelon and 8 Rivers Capital (CB&I—33.3% / Exelon—33.3% / 8 Rivers Capital—33.3%) to commercialize a new natural gas power generation system that recovers the carbon dioxide produced during combustion. NET Power is building a first-of-its-kind demonstration plant which is being funded by contributions and services from the venture partners and other parties. We have determined the venture to be a VIE; however, we do not effectively control NET Power and therefore do not consolidate it. Our cash commitment for NET Power totals \$57,300, and at March 31, 2018, we had made cumulative investments totaling approximately \$47,300.

CB&I/CTCI—We have a venture with CTCI (CB&I—50% / CTCI—50%) to perform EPC work for a liquids ethylene cracker and associated units in Sohar, Oman. We have determined the venture to be a VIE; however, we do not effectively control the venture and therefore do not consolidate it. Our proportionate share of the

• venture project value is approximately \$1,400,000. Our venture arrangement allows for excess working capital of the venture to be advanced to the venture partners. Such advances are returned to the venture for working capital needs as necessary. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, other current liabilities included approximately \$95,000 and \$173,600, respectively, related to advances to CB&I from the venture.

Consolidated Ventures—The following is a summary description of our significant joint ventures we consolidate due to their designation as VIEs for which we are the primary beneficiary:

CB&I/Kentz—We have a venture with Kentz (CB&I—65% / Kentz—35%) to perform the structural, mechanical, piping, electrical and instrumentation work on, and to provide commissioning support for, three LNG trains, including associated utilities and a gas processing and compression plant, for the Gorgon LNG project, located on Barrow Island, Australia. Our venture project value is approximately \$5,900,000 and the project was substantially complete as of December 31, 2017.

CB&I/Orano (formerly AREVA)—We have a venture with Orano (CB&I—52% / Orano—48%) to design, license and construct a mixed oxide fuel fabrication facility in Aiken, South Carolina. Our venture project value is approximately \$6.000.000.

The following table presents summarized balance sheet information for our consolidated ventures:

	1	
	March 31,	December 31,
	2018	2017
CB&I/Kentz		
Current assets	\$ 24,653	\$ 23,061
Non-current assets	69,840	71,023
Total assets	\$ 94,493	\$ 94,084
Current liabilities	\$ 31,373	\$ 30,082
CB&I/Orano		
Current assets	\$ 10,254	\$ 32,621
Non-current assets	56,611	_
Total assets	\$ 66,865	\$ 32,621
Current liabilities	\$ 53,699	\$ 57,820
All Other (1)		
Current assets	\$ 20,823	\$ 26,551
Non-current assets	15,238	15,753
Total assets	\$ 36,061	\$ 42,304
Current liabilities	\$ 6,743	\$ 10,404

⁽¹⁾ Other ventures that we consolidate are not individually material to our financial results and are therefore aggregated as "All Other".

Other—The use of these ventures exposes us to a number of risks, including the risk that our partners may be unable or unwilling to provide their share of capital investment to fund the operations of the venture or complete their obligations to us, the venture, or ultimately, our customer. Differences in opinions or views among venture partners could also result in delayed decision-making or failure to agree on material issues, which could adversely affect the

business and operations of the venture. In addition, agreement terms may subject us to joint and several liability for our venture partners, and the failure of our venture partners to perform their obligations could impose additional performance and financial obligations on us. The aforementioned factors could result in unanticipated costs to complete the projects, liquidated damages or contract disputes, including claims against our partners.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

9. RESTRUCTURING RELATED COSTS

During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we recognized approximately \$5,100 of restructuring related costs associated with professional fees and severance costs, resulting primarily from our publicly announced cost reduction, facility rationalization and strategic initiatives, as described below.

Professional Fees—Professional fees totaled approximately \$3,800 for the three months ended March 31, 2018, nearly all of which were paid during the period, and were related to consulting, legal, audit and advisory related services associated with our strategic initiatives, including costs associated with the anticipated Combination. See Note 2 for further discussion of the Combination.

Severance Costs and Employee Related Obligations—Severance costs totaled approximately \$1,300 for the three months ended March 31, 2018, nearly all of which were paid during the period. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had a liability of approximately \$4,000 and \$8,500, respectively, for the unpaid portion of severance costs (as well as incentive plan costs at December 31, 2017) accrued during 2017, which has been reflected within other current liabilities. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we also had a liability of approximately \$17,000 associated with union employee related obligations accrued during 2017 resulting from facility closures. The union employee related obligations are expected to be paid over an extended period of time and have been reflected within other non-current liabilities.

Facility Consolidation Obligations—At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had a facility realignment liability related to reserves recorded during 2017 for future operating lease expense for vacated leased facility capacity where we remain contractually obligated to a lessor. The liability for future lease obligations was reflected within other current and non-current liabilities, as applicable, based upon the anticipated timing of payments. The following table summarizes the changes in the facility consolidation liability during the three months ended March 31, 2018:

Total
Balance at December 31, 2017 \$15,606
Charges —
Cash payments (2,101)
Foreign exchange and other
Balance at March 31, 2018 (1) \$14,178

(1) Cash payments for our existing obligations at March 31, 2018 are anticipated to be approximately \$5,200, \$2,900, \$2,400, \$2,000, \$1,600 and \$100 in 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, and thereafter, respectively.

10. DEBT

Our outstanding debt at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 was as follows:

	March 31, 2018	December 31, 2017
Current		
Revolving facilities and other short-term borrowings	\$1,388,151	\$1,102,151
Current maturities of long-term debt	1,148,469	1,167,219
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs	(3,111)	(6,928)
Current maturities of long-term debt, net of unamortized debt issuance costs	1,145,358	1,160,291
Current debt, net of unamortized debt issuance costs	\$2,533,509	\$ 2,262,442
Long-Term		
Second Term Loan: \$500,000 term loan (interest at LIBOR plus a floating margin)	\$421,996	\$440,746
Senior Notes: \$800,000 senior notes, series A-D (fixed interest ranging from 7.57% to 9.15%)	584,596	584,596
Second Senior Notes: \$200,000 senior notes (fixed interest of 7.53%)	141,877	141,877
Less: current maturities of long-term debt	(1,148,469)	(1,167,219)
Long-term debt, net of unamortized debt issuance costs	\$ —	\$—

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Committed Facilities—We have a five-year, \$1,150,000 committed revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Facility") with Bank of America N.A. ("BofA"), as administrative agent, and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., BBVA Compass, Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank ("Credit Agricole") and TD Securities, each as syndication agents, which expires in October 2018. The Revolving Facility has a \$100,000 total letter of credit sublimit. At March 31, 2018, we had \$847,402 and \$71,891 of outstanding borrowings and letters of credit, respectively, under the facility (including \$45 of financial letters of credit), providing \$227,101 of available capacity, of which \$28,109 was available for letters of credit based on our total letter of credit sublimit.

We also have a five-year, \$800,000 committed revolving credit facility (the "Second Revolving Facility") with BofA, as administrative agent, and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., BBVA Compass, Credit Agricole and Bank of Tokyo Mitsubishi UFJ, each as syndication agents, which expires in July 2020. The Second Revolving Facility has a \$100,000 total letter of credit sublimit. At March 31, 2018, we had \$540,749 of outstanding borrowings and \$99,494 of outstanding letters of credit under the facility (including \$2,705 of financial letters of credit), providing \$157,129 of available capacity, of which \$506 was available for letters of credit based on our total letter of credit sublimit. Maximum outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facility (together, "Committed Facilities") during the three months ended March 31, 2018, were approximately \$1,700,000. We are assessed quarterly commitment fees on the unutilized portion of the facilities as well as letter of credit fees on outstanding letters of credit. Interest on borrowings is assessed at either prime plus 4.00% or LIBOR plus 5.00%. In addition, fees for financial and performance letters of credit are 5.00% and 3.50%, respectively. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, our weighted average interest rate on borrowings under the Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facility was approximately 6.89% and 8.02%, respectively, inclusive of the applicable floating margin. As a result of the 2017 amendments described below, our debt obligations under the Committed Facilities are required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination. The Committed Facilities have financial and restrictive covenants described further below.

Uncommitted Facilities—We have various short-term, uncommitted letter of credit facilities (the "Uncommitted Facilities") across several geographic regions, under which we had \$1,599,404 of outstanding letters of credit as of March 31, 2018.

Term Loan—At March 31, 2018, we had \$421,996 outstanding under a five-year, \$500,000 term loan (the "Term Loan") with BofA as administrative agent. Interest and principal under the Term Loan is payable quarterly in arrears, and interest is assessed at either prime plus 4.00% or LIBOR plus 5.00%. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, our weighted average interest rate on the Term Loan was approximately 7.10%, inclusive of the applicable floating margin. Future annual maturities for the Term Loan are \$56,250, \$75,000 and \$290,746 for 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively. As a result of the 2017 amendments described below, our debt obligations under the Term Loan are required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination. The Term Loan has financial and restrictive covenants described further below.

Senior Notes—We have a series of senior notes totaling \$584,596 in aggregate principal amount outstanding as of March 31, 2018 (the "Senior Notes"). The Senior Notes include Series A through D and contained the following terms at March 31, 2018:

Series A—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 9.15%, with principal of \$104,653 due in August 2018

Series B—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 7.57%, with principal of \$165,784 due in December 2019

Series C—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 8.15%, with principal of \$195,219 due in December 2022

Series D—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 8.30%, with principal of \$118,940 due in December 2024 We also have senior notes totaling \$141,877 in aggregate principal amount outstanding as of March 31, 2018 (the "Second Senior Notes") with BofA as administrative agent. Interest is payable semi-annually at a fixed rate of 7.53%, with principal of \$141,877 due in July 2025.

The Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes (together, the "Notes") also include provisions relating to our credit profile, which if not maintained will result in an incremental annual cost of up to 1.50% of the outstanding balance under the Notes. Further, the Notes include provisions relating to our leverage, which if not maintained, could result in an

incremental annual cost of up to 1.00% (depending on our leverage level) of the outstanding balance under the Notes, provided that the incremental annual cost related to our credit profile and leverage cannot exceed 2.00% per annum. Finally, the Notes are subject to a make-whole premium in connection with certain prepayment events. As a result of the 2017 amendments described below, our debt obligations under the Notes are required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination. The Notes have financial and restrictive covenants described further below.

Compliance—As a result of noncompliance with certain financial covenants during 2017, and in connection with the decision to pursue the Combination, we entered into a series of amendments for our Committed Facilities, Term Loan and Notes (collectively, the "Senior Facilities") during 2017. The amendments adjusted certain original and amended financial and

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

restrictive covenants, introduced new financial and restrictive covenants, and waived noncompliance with certain covenants and other defaults and events of default. The amendments:

Require us to secure the Senior Facilities through the pledge of cash, accounts receivable, inventory, fixed assets, certain real property, and stock of subsidiaries, which resulted in substantially all of our assets, subject to customary exceptions, being pledged as collateral for our Senior Facilities.

Prohibit mergers and acquisitions (other than the Combination), open-market share repurchases and dividend payments and certain inter-company transactions.

Require us to repay portions of the Senior Facilities with the issuance of any unsecured debt that is subordinate ("Subordinated Debt") to the Senior Facilities, the issuance of any equity securities, or the sale of any assets. Provide for required minimum levels of trailing 12-month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") as follows: \$500,000 at March 31, 2018, \$500,000 at June 30, 2018, \$550,000 at September 30, 2018, and \$575,000 at December 31, 2018 and each quarter thereafter. Trailing 12-month EBITDA for purposes of determining compliance with the Minimum EBITDA covenant is adjusted to exclude: an agreed amount attributable to restructuring or integration charges during the third and fourth quarters of 2017 and an agreed amount attributable to charges on certain projects which occurred during 2017 (collectively, the "EBITDA Addbacks"). Provide for a maximum leverage ratio of 1.75 ("Maximum Leverage Ratio") and a minimum fixed charge ratio of 2.25 ("Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio"), but waive any noncompliance with the Maximum Leverage Ratio or Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio beginning on December 18, 2017 and ending on the earlier of (i) June 18, 2018 or (ii) the occurrence of certain Combination termination events (the "Covenant Relief Period"). Trailing 12-month EBITDA for purposes of determining compliance with the Maximum Leverage Ratio and consolidated net income for purposes of determining compliance with the Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio would be adjusted for the EBITDA Addbacks.

Extend the maturity of the Series A Senior Notes, from December 27, 2017 to August 31, 2018.

Requires us to maintain a minimum aggregate availability under our Committed Facilities, including borrowings and letters of credit, of \$50,000 during the Covenant Relief Period, and \$250,000 thereafter.

Limit the amount of certain of our funded indebtedness to \$2,900,000 less the aggregate amount of all scheduled repayments and mandatory prepayments of such funded indebtedness, but for the duration of the Covenant Relief Period, increase the limit from \$3,000,000 to \$3,140,000.

Provide for the: (i) filing of a joint proxy statement/prospectus ("Form S-4") by February 15, 2018, (ii) filing of a solicitation/recommendation statement on Schedule 14D-9 as promptly as reasonably practicable following (but in any event by no later than 10 business days after) the commencement of the exchange offer related to the Combination, and (iii) duly calling and giving notice of a meeting of the Company's shareholders as promptly as reasonably practicable after the Form S-4 is declared effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (but in any event by no later than May 18, 2018) (collectively, the "Combination Milestones"). Each of the Combination Milestones was achieved during the first quarter 2018.

Provide for completion of the Combination by June 18, 2018 (the "Combination Closing Deadline").

Provide for the mandatory repayment of the outstanding debt under the Senior Facilities on the day of the closing of the Combination, which in the case of the Notes, is to be at the price of the make-whole amount as modified by the amendments. At March 31, 2018, we had an accrual of approximately \$27,700 within accrued liabilities related to the anticipated modified make-whole payment.

Provide for certain events of default in respect of the Combination, including: (i) termination of documentation related to the Combination, (ii) failure of the applicable proposals related to the Combination to be brought for a vote by the shareholders of the Company or McDermott, (iii) the failure of the shareholders of either McDermott or the Company to approve the applicable proposals related to the Combination at their respective shareholder meetings, subject to a seven day grace period, (iv) the supervisory board of directors of the Company changing its recommendation to the Company's shareholders in respect of the Combination, or (v) the failure of certain financing commitments in respect of the Combination, subject to customary minimum thresholds.

Provide for certain other information and modified reporting rights, modifications to mandatory prepayment requirements, and consent rights of the holders of the outstanding Notes and administrative agents of the Bank Facilities as more fully set forth in the amendments.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

At March 31, 2018, we were in compliance with our restrictive and financial covenants, with a trailing 12-month EBITDA of \$615,000, and aggregate availability under our Committed Facilities of at least \$121,000 at all times during the three months ended March 31, 2018. Based on our forecasted EBITDA and cash flows, we project future compliance with our financial covenants through the Combination Closing Deadline. Further, we have successfully achieved the various Combination Milestones required by our 2017 amendments, and believe it is probable we will complete the Combination by the Combination Closing Deadline. Although we do not project future loan compliance violations through the Combination Closing Deadline, due to the requirement for our debt obligations to be repaid in connection with the Combination, debt of approximately \$966,100, which by its terms is due beyond one year and would otherwise be shown as long-term, has been classified as current.

Our plan to maintain compliance with our covenants, satisfy our debt obligations, and continue as a going concern is to complete the aforementioned Combination, with no further financing alternatives beyond the Combination. Absent this plan, we would be unable to satisfy our debt obligations, raising substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern; however, the Combination alleviates the substantial doubt.

Other—In addition to providing letters of credit, we also issue surety bonds in the ordinary course of business to support our contract performance. At March 31, 2018, we had \$339,069 of outstanding surety bonds in support of our projects. In addition, we had \$404,597 of surety bonds maintained on behalf of our former Capital Services Operations, for which we have received an indemnity from CSVC. We also continue to maintain guarantees on behalf of our former Capital Services Operations in support of approximately \$50,100 of backlog, for which we have also received an indemnity.

Capitalized interest was insignificant for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Derivatives—At March 31, 2018, the notional value of our outstanding forward contracts to hedge certain foreign exchange-related operating exposures was approximately \$119,300. These contracts vary in duration, maturing up to four years from period-end. We designate certain of these hedges as cash flow hedges and accordingly, changes in their fair value are recognized in AOCI until the associated underlying operating exposure impacts our earnings. Forward points, which are deemed to be an ineffective portion of the hedges, are recognized within cost of revenue and are not material.

Financial Instruments Disclosures

Fair Value—Financial instruments are required to be categorized within a valuation hierarchy based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels of the valuation hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1—Fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2—Fair value is based on internally developed models that use, as their basis, readily observable market parameters. Our derivative positions are classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy as they are valued using quoted market prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets. These level 2 derivatives are valued utilizing an income approach, which discounts future cash flow based on current market expectations and adjusts for credit risk.

Level 3—Fair value is based on internally developed models that use, as their basis, significant unobservable market parameters. We did not have any level 3 classifications at March 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.

The following table presents the fair value of our foreign currency exchange rate derivatives and interest rate derivatives at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, by valuation hierarchy and balance sheet classification:

Derivative Assets (1)

Other current assets	\$ -\$ 1,665	\$	-\$1,665	\$ -\$ 1,671	\$ -\$1,671
Other non-current assets	— 562		562	—556	 556
Total assets at fair value	\$-\$2,227	\$	-\$2,227	\$-\$2,227	\$ -\$2,227
Derivative Liabilities					
Other current liabilities	\$-\$(7,892)	\$	-\$(7,892)	\$-\$(4,598)	\$ -\$(4,598)
Other non-current liabilities	— (183)	_	(183)	— (187)	 (187)
Total liabilities at fair value	\$-\$(8,075)	\$	-\$(8,075)	\$-\$(4,785)	\$ -\$(4,785)

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

We are exposed to credit risk on our hedging instruments associated with potential counterparty non-performance, and the fair value of our derivatives reflects this credit risk. The total level 2 assets at fair value above represent the maximum loss that we would incur on our outstanding hedges if the applicable counterparties failed to perform according to the hedge contracts. To help mitigate counterparty credit risk, we transact only with counterparties that are rated as investment grade or higher and monitor all counterparties on a continuous basis.

The carrying values of our cash and cash equivalents (primarily consisting of bank deposits), accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair value of our Second Term Loan, based upon the current market rates for debt with similar credit risk and maturities, approximated its carrying value as interest is based on LIBOR plus an applicable floating margin. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair values of our Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes, based upon the current market rates for debt with similar credit risk and maturities, approximated their carrying values due to their classification as current on our Balance Sheet.

Derivatives Disclosures

Fair Value—The following table presents the total fair value by underlying risk and balance sheet classification for derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

	Other Current and			Other Current and		
	Non-Current Assets			Non-Current Liabilities		
	March 3December 31,			March 31,December 31,		
	2018	20	017	2018	2017	
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges						
Foreign currency	\$440	\$	385	\$(227)) \$ (140)
Fair value	\$440	\$	385	\$(227)) \$ (140)
Derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges						
Foreign currency	\$1,787	\$	1,842	\$(7,848)	\$ (4,645))
Fair value	\$1,787	\$	1,842	\$(7,848)	\$ (4,645))
Total fair value	\$2,227	\$	2,227	\$(8,075)) \$ (4,785)

Master Netting Arrangements ("MNAs")—Our derivatives are executed under International Swaps and Derivatives Association MNAs, which generally allow us and our counterparties to net settle, in a single net payable or receivable, obligations due on the same day, in the same currency and for the same type of derivative instrument. We have elected the option to record all derivatives on a gross basis in our Balance Sheet. The following table presents our derivative assets and liabilities at March 31, 2018 on a gross basis and a net settlement basis:

	Gross Amounts Recognized (i)	Gross Amounts Offset on the Balance Sheet (ii)	Presented on the	the Balance Sheet Financial Instruments		Cash Collateral Received	Net Amount (v) = (iii) - (iv)
Derivative Assets							
Foreign currency	2,227	_	2,227	(454)	_	1,773
Total assets	\$ 2,227	\$ —	-\$ 2,227	\$ (454)	\$ -	- \$ 1,773
Derivative Liabilities							
Foreign currency	(8,075)	_	(8,075)	454		_	(7,621)
Total liabilities	\$ (8,075)	\$	-\$ (8,075)	\$ 454		\$ -	-\$ (7,621)

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

AOCI/Other—The following table presents the total value, by underlying risk, recognized in other comprehensive income ("OCI") and reclassified from AOCI to interest expense (interest rate derivatives) and cost of revenue (foreign currency derivatives) during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 for derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:

Amount of Gain (Loss) on Effective

Derivative Portion

Recognized

Reclassified from

in **OCI**

AOCI into Earnings (1)

Three

Three Months Ended Months

Ended March 31.

March 31,

2018 2017 2018 2017

Derivatives designated as cash

flow hedges

Service cost

Interest cost

Interest rate \$-- \$-- \$ --\$ 49 Foreign currency (39) 682 (82) 124 \$(39) \$682 \$ (82 Total) \$ 173

(1) Net unrealized gains totaling approximately \$44 are anticipated to be reclassified from AOCI into earnings during the next 12 months due to settlement of the associated underlying obligations.

The following table presents the total value recognized in cost of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 for foreign currency derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges:

> Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Earnings

Three Months Ended

March 31,

2018 2017

Derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges

Foreign currency \$ (13,153) \$ (6,170) Total \$ (13,153) \$ (6,170)

12. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Our 2017 Annual Report disclosed anticipated 2018 defined benefit pension and other postretirement plan contributions of approximately \$18,200 and \$2,400, respectively. The following table provides updated contribution information for these plans at March 31, 2018:

	Dancian Dlanc	Other Postretiremer Plans		
	r chsion r lans	Plans		
Contributions made through March 31, 2018	\$ 8,052	\$ 294		
Contributions expected for the remainder of 2018	10,102	1,972		
Total contributions expected for 2018	\$ 18,154	\$ 2,266		

The following table provides a breakout of the components of net periodic benefit cost (income) associated with our defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017:

Three Months Ended March 31. Pension Plans 2018 2017 \$3,076 \$2,782 5,048 4,591

Expected return on plan assets	(6,933)	(5,786)
Amortization of prior service credits	(160)	(150)
Recognized net actuarial losses	1,494	1,498
Net periodic benefit cost	\$2,525	\$2,935
Other Postretirement Plans		
Service cost	\$127	\$171
Interest cost	296	342
Recognized net actuarial gains	(722)	(685)
Net periodic benefit income	\$(299)	\$(172)

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

General—We have been and may from time to time be named as a defendant in legal actions claiming damages in connection with engineering and construction projects, technology licenses, other services we provide, and other matters. These are typically claims that arise in the normal course of business, including employment-related claims and contractual disputes or claims for personal injury or property damages which occur in connection with services performed relating to project or construction sites. Contractual disputes normally involve claims relating to the timely completion of projects, performance of equipment or technologies, design or other engineering services or project construction services provided by us. We do not believe that any of our pending contractual, employment-related personal injury or property damage claims and disputes will have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position or cash flow. See Note 16 for additional discussion of claims associated with our projects.

Project Arbitration Matters—We are in arbitration (governed by the arbitration rules of the International Chamber of Commerce) with the customer for one of our previously completed large cost-reimbursable projects, in which the customer is alleging cost overruns and consequential damages on the project. We have a counterclaim against the customer for unpaid receivables. We believe all amounts incurred and billed on the project, including outstanding receivables of approximately \$254,000 as of March 31, 2018, are contractually due under the provisions of our contract and are recoverable. The receivables have been classified as a non-current asset on our Balance Sheet as we do not anticipate collection within the next year. We do not believe a risk of material loss is probable related to this matter, and accordingly, no amounts have been accrued. While it is possible that a loss may be incurred, we are unable to estimate the range of potential loss, if any.

In addition, we are in arbitration (governed by the arbitration rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law) with the customer for one of our previously completed consolidated joint venture projects, regarding differing interpretations of the contract related to up to approximately \$175,000 of reimbursable billings. We dispute the customer's interpretation of the contract and believe all amounts incurred and billed on the project, including outstanding receivables of approximately \$40,000 as of March 31, 2018, are contractually due under the provisions of our contract and are recoverable. The receivables have been classified as a non-current asset on our Balance Sheet as we do not anticipate collection within the next year. We do not believe a risk of material loss is probable related to this matter, and accordingly, no amounts have been accrued. While it is possible that a loss may be incurred, we are unable to estimate the range of potential loss, if any.

Dispute Related to Sale of Nuclear Operations—On December 31, 2015, we sold our Nuclear Operations to Westinghouse Electric Company LLC ("WEC"). In connection with the transaction, a post-closing purchase price adjustment mechanism was negotiated between CB&I and WEC to account for any difference between target working capital and actual working capital as finally determined pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreement. On April 28, 2016, WEC delivered to us a purported closing statement that estimated closing working capital was negative \$976,506, which was \$2,150,506 less than the target working capital amount. In contrast, we calculated closing working capital to be \$1,601,805, which was \$427,805 greater than the target working capital amount. On July 21, 2016, we filed a complaint against WEC in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware seeking a declaration that WEC has no remedy for the vast majority of its claims, and we requested an injunction barring WEC from bringing such claims. On December 2, 2016, the Court of Chancery granted WEC's motion for judgment on the pleadings and dismissed our complaint, stating that the dispute should follow the dispute resolution process set forth in the purchase agreement, which includes the use of an independent auditor to resolve the working capital dispute. We appealed that ruling to the Delaware Supreme Court. Due to WEC's bankruptcy filing on March 29, 2017, all claim resolution proceedings were automatically stayed pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code. At the parties' request, the Bankruptcy Court lifted the automatic stay to permit the appeal and dispute resolution process to continue. Oral argument before the Delaware Supreme Court was held on May 3, 2017, and on June 27, 2017, the Delaware Supreme Court overturned the decision of the Court of Chancery and instructed the Court of Chancery to issue an order enjoining WEC from submitting certain claims to the independent auditor. The parties continue to move forward with those matters still

subject to the dispute resolution process and with the selection of a new independent auditor to replace the previous auditor, who had resigned. We do not believe a risk of material loss is probable related to this matter, and, accordingly, no amounts have been accrued. While it is possible that a loss may be incurred, we are unable to estimate the range of potential loss, if any. We believe the Delaware Supreme Court ruling significantly improved our position on this matter and intend to continue pursuing our rights under the purchase agreement.

Shareholder Litigation Related to Planned Combination with McDermott—Five of our shareholders have filed separate lawsuits under the federal securities laws in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas challenging the accuracy of the disclosures made in the Form S-4 Registration Statement filed with the SEC on January 24, 2018 in connection with the Combination. The cases are captioned (i) McIntyre v. Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V., et al., Case No. 4:18-cv-00314 (S.D. Tex.) (the "Leon Action"); (iii) and Maresh v. Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V., et al., Case No. 4:18-cv-00498 (S.D. Tex.) (the "Maresh Action"); (iv) Patel v Chicago Bridge & Iron Company, N.V. et al., Case No. 4:18-cv-00550 (S.D. Texas) (the "Patel Action"); and (v) Judd v. Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V., et al., Case No. 4:18-

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

cv-00799 (S.D. Texas) (the "Judd Action"). The McIntyre Action, Leon Action, Maresh Action and Judd Action are asserted on behalf of putative classes of our public shareholders, while the Patel Action is brought only on behalf of the named plaintiff. All five actions allege violations of Section 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14a-9 promulgated thereunder based on various alleged omissions of material information from the Registration Statement. The McIntyre Action names as defendants CB&I, each of CB&I's directors individually, and certain current and former CB&I officers and employees individually. It seeks to enjoin the Combination, an award of costs and attorneys' and expert fees, and damages. On February 7, 2018, the plaintiff in the McIntyre Action filed a motion for preliminary injunction seeking to enjoin CB&I from consummating the Combination.

The Leon Action names as defendants CB&I, certain subsidiaries of CB&I and McDermott that are parties to the Combination Agreement, each of CB&I's directors individually, and McDermott as an alleged control person of CB&I. The Leon Action seeks to enjoin the Combination (or, in the alternative, rescission or an award for rescissory damages in the event the Combination is completed), to compel CB&I to issue a revised Registration Statement, and an award of costs and attorneys' and expert fees.

The Maresh Action, which was originally filed in Delaware and voluntarily dismissed without prejudice on February 13, 2018, was re-filed in Texas and names as defendants CB&I, each of CB&I's directors individually, and certain current and former CB&I officers and employees individually. The Maresh Action seeks to enjoin the Combination (or, in the alternative, an award for rescissory damages in the event the Combination is completed) and an award of costs and attorneys' and expert fees.

The Patel Action names as defendants CB&I and each of CB&I's directors individually and seeks to enjoin the Combination, an award of costs and attorneys' and expert fees.

The Judd Action names as defendants CB&I and each of CB&I's directors individually and seeks to enjoin the Combination or, in the alternative in the event the Combination is consummated, to recover rescissory damages from the directors individually, together with an award of costs and attorneys' and expert fees.

The Court consolidated all of the actions. The consolidation order appointed the plaintiff in the Leon Action and the plaintiff's counsel in the Leon Action as the interim lead plaintiff and the interim lead plaintiff's counsel, respectively. On March 9, 2018, the interim lead plaintiff filed a consolidated amended complaint. On March 16, 2018, defendants moved to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint and interim lead plaintiff filed a motion for preliminary injunction. On March 29, 2018, interim lead plaintiff withdrew its motion for a preliminary injunction. Motions for permanent lead plaintiff status were due on April 2, 2018, and only interim lead plaintiff filed such a motion. On April 5, 2018, interim lead plaintiff sought an extension of time to respond to defendants' motion to dismiss until after such time as a permanent lead plaintiff is appointed. That motion was granted.

We believe the actions are without merit and that there are substantial legal and factual defenses to the claims asserted. We intend to vigorously defend against the claims made in the actions.

Asbestos Litigation—We are a defendant in numerous lawsuits wherein plaintiffs allege exposure to asbestos due to work we may have performed at various locations. We have never been a manufacturer, distributor or supplier of asbestos products. Over the past several decades and through March 31, 2018, we have been named a defendant in lawsuits alleging exposure to asbestos involving approximately 6,200 plaintiffs and, of those claims, approximately 1,100 claims were pending and 5,100 have been closed through dismissals or settlements. Over the past several decades and through March 31, 2018, the claims alleging exposure to asbestos that have been resolved have been dismissed or settled for an average settlement amount of approximately two thousand dollars per claim. We review each case on its own merits and make accruals based on the probability of loss and our estimates of the amount of liability and related expenses, if any. Although we have seen an increase in the number of recent filings, especially in one specific venue, we do not believe the increase or any unresolved asserted claims will have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations, financial position or cash flow, and at March 31, 2018, we had approximately \$8,300 accrued for liability and related expenses. With respect to unasserted asbestos claims, we cannot identify a population of potential claimants with sufficient certainty to determine the probability of a loss and to make a reasonable estimate of liability, if any. While we continue to pursue recovery for recognized and

unrecognized contingent losses through insurance, indemnification arrangements or other sources, we are unable to quantify the amount, if any, that we may expect to recover because of the variability in coverage amounts, limitations and deductibles or the viability of carriers, with respect to our insurance policies for the years in question.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Environmental Matters—Our operations are subject to extensive and changing U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations, as well as the laws of other countries, that establish health and environmental quality standards. These standards, among others, relate to air and water pollutants and the management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes. We are exposed to potential liability for personal injury or property damage caused by any release, spill, exposure or other accident involving such pollutants, substances or wastes.

In connection with the historical operation of our facilities, including those associated with acquired operations, substances which currently are or might be considered hazardous were used or disposed of at some sites that will or may require us to make expenditures for remediation. In addition, we have agreed to indemnify parties from whom we have purchased or to whom we have sold facilities for certain environmental liabilities arising from acts occurring before the dates those facilities were transferred.

We believe we are in compliance, in all material respects, with environmental laws and regulations and maintain insurance coverage to mitigate our exposure to environmental liabilities. We do not believe any environmental matters will have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations, financial position or cash flow. We do not anticipate we will incur material capital expenditures for environmental controls or for the investigation or remediation of environmental conditions during the remainder of 2018 or 2019.

14. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following table presents changes in AOCI, net of tax, by component, during the three months ended March 31, 2018:

	Translation Adjustment	Unrealized Fair Value Of Cash Flow Hea	lges	Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plan	ns	Total
Balance at December 31, 2017	\$(183,434)	\$ 299		\$ (133,373)	\$(316,508)
OCI before reclassifications	16,282	(124)	(4,414)	11,744
Amounts reclassified from AOCI		52		444		496
Net OCI	16,282	(72)	(3,970)	12,240
Balance at March 31, 2018	\$(167,152)	\$ 227		\$ (137,343)	\$(304,268)

(1) During the three months ended March 31, 2018, the currency translation adjustment component of AOCI was favorably impacted by net movements in the British Pound and Euro exchange rates against the U.S. Dollar. The following table presents reclassification of AOCI into earnings, net of tax, for each component, during the three months ended March 31, 2018:

	Amount	
	Reclassif	fied
	From AC	OCI
Unrealized Fair Value Of Cash Flow Hedges (1)		
Foreign currency derivatives (cost of revenue)	\$ 82	
Total before tax	\$ 82	
Tax	(30)
Total net of tax	\$ 52	
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (2)		
Amortization of prior service credits	\$ (160)
Recognized net actuarial losses	772	
Total before tax	\$ 612	
Tax	(168)
Total net of tax	\$ 444	

⁽¹⁾ See Note 11 for further discussion of our cash flow hedges, including the total value reclassified from AOCI to earnings.

(2) See Note 12 for further discussion of our defined benefit and other postretirement plans, including the components of net periodic benefit cost.

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

15. EQUITY-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS AND OTHER EQUITY ACTIVITY

General—Under our equity-based incentive plans (our "Incentive Plans"), we can issue shares to employees and directors in the form of restricted stock units ("RSUs"), performance based shares (including those based upon financial or stock price performance) and stock options. Changes in common stock, APIC and treasury stock during the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 primarily relate to activity associated with our Incentive Plans and share repurchases. Share Grants—During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we granted 1,776 RSU related shares associated with our Incentive Plans with a weighted average grant-date fair value of \$18.46 per share, which vest over a three year period. Share Issuances—During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we had the following share issuances associated with our Incentive Plans and employee stock purchase plan ("ESPP"):

RSUs (issued upon vesting) 616
Stock options (issued upon exercise) 284
ESPP shares (issued upon sale) 123
Total shares issued (1) 1,023

(1) During the three months ended March 31, 2018, there were no financial performance based shares issued based on the results of the underlying performance conditions.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense—During the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, we recognized \$9,137 and \$10,247, respectively (including \$676 during the three months ended March 31, 2017 associated with our discontinued Capital Services Operations), of stock-based compensation expense, primarily within selling and administrative expense. We recognize forfeitures as they occur, rather than estimating expected forfeitures. Share Repurchases—During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we repurchased 181 shares for \$3,207 (an average price of \$17.72) for taxes withheld on taxable share distributions.

16. UNAPPROVED CHANGE ORDERS, CLAIMS, INCENTIVES, AND OTHER PROJECT MATTERS Unapproved Change Orders, Claims and Incentives—We have unapproved change orders and claims (collectively, "Claims") and incentives included in project price for consolidated and proportionately consolidated projects within our Engineering & Construction and Fabrication Services operating groups.

At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, our pro-rata share of Claims included in project price totaled approximately \$229,800 and \$227,200, respectively, for projects in both operating groups. Our Claims at March 31, 2018 are primarily related to a completed project and our U.S. LNG export facility project in Freeport, Texas. The Claims are primarily associated with fabrication activities and schedule related delays (including force majeure weather events for one of the projects) and related prolongation costs. Approximately \$101,400 of the Claim amounts at March 31, 2018 are subject to arbitration or dispute resolution proceedings that are progressing, and the remainder are subject to ongoing commercial discussions. Further, approximately \$203,600 of the Claim amounts had been recognized as revenue on a cumulative POC basis through March 31, 2018. Of the recognized Claim amounts at March 31, 2018, approximately \$15,300 had been paid by the respective customers and the remainder has been reflected within cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on our Balance Sheet.

At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we also had incentives included in project price of approximately \$76,800 and \$77,000, respectively, for projects within both operating groups. Our incentives at March 31, 2018 are primarily related to our U.S. gas turbine power project in the Northeast and our U.S. LNG export facility project in Hackberry, Louisiana. Approximately \$64,300 of such amounts had been recognized as revenue on a cumulative POC basis through March 31, 2018 and has been reflected within cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on our Balance Sheet.

The aforementioned amounts recorded in project price and recognized as revenue reflect our best estimates of recovery; however, the ultimate resolution and amounts received could differ from these estimates and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position and cash flow. See Note 13 for further discussion of outstanding receivables related to one of our completed large cost-reimbursable projects and one of our completed consolidated joint venture projects.

Westinghouse Bankruptcy—On March 29, 2017, Westinghouse filed voluntary petitions to reorganize under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code ("Westinghouse Bankruptcy"). At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had approximately \$42,000 and \$30,000, respectively, of recorded pre-petition accounts receivable amounts due from Westinghouse. The increase

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

in our recorded receivables during the first quarter 2018 was due to a third party offer to purchase the receivables. We currently do not believe the Westinghouse Bankruptcy will impact the realizability of the recorded receivable amounts

Project Changes in Estimates—Backlog for each of our operating groups generally consists of several hundred contracts and our results may be impacted by changes in estimated project margins.

For the three months ended March 31, 2018, individual projects with significant changes in estimated margins did not have a material net impact on our income from operations.

For the three months ended March 31, 2017, significant changes in estimated margins on three projects within our Engineering & Construction operating group resulted in a decrease to our income from operations of approximately \$167,000 (approximately \$143,000 for our U.S. gas turbine power projects in the Midwest and Northeast ("Two Gas Projects") and approximately \$24,000 for our U.S. LNG export facility project in Hackberry, Louisiana). The Two Gas Projects were impacted by cost increases due to lower than anticipated labor productivity and extensions of schedule, and the project in Hackberry was impacted by the net effects of increased fabrication costs, and craft labor, subcontractor and indirect costs associated with an extension of schedule, partly offset by the benefit of an increase in project price for claims on the project (which were resolved in the fourth quarter 2017). In addition, changes in estimated margins on a large consolidated joint venture project and a separate cost reimbursable project within our Engineering & Construction operating group resulted in an increase to our income from operations of approximately \$103,000 (both benefiting from changes in estimated recoveries on the projects). Individual projects with significant changes in estimated margins for our remaining backlog did not have a material net impact on our income from operations.

Two Gas Projects

At March 31, 2018, our U.S. gas turbine power project in the Midwest within our Engineering & Construction operating group was in a loss position. The project was over 99% complete at March 31, 2018, and we have submitted a letter of "substantial completion" to the customer for acceptance. If the project incurs schedule liquidated damages due to our inability to reach a favorable commercial resolution on such matters, the project would experience further losses.

At March 31, 2018, our U.S. gas turbine power project in the Northeast within our Engineering & Construction operating group was in a loss position. The project was approximately 84% complete and had a reserve for estimated losses of approximately \$60,000 at March 31, 2018, and is forecasted to be completed in the fourth quarter 2018 (consistent with our estimates as of December 31, 2017). Our current forecast for the project anticipates productivity levels that are consistent with our overall historical experience on the project and improved progress (due in part to anticipated improvement in weather conditions as the project moves out of the winter months), and actions to reduce our schedule related indirect costs. If future direct and subcontract labor productivity differ from our current estimates, we are unable to achieve our progress estimates, our schedule is extended, or we do not achieve our schedule related incentives, the project would experience further losses.

Two LNG Projects

At March 31, 2018, our U.S. LNG export facility project in Hackberry, Louisiana, within our Engineering & Construction operating group was in a loss position. The project was approximately 84% complete and had a reserve for estimated losses of approximately \$13,000 at March 31, 2018, and is forecasted to be completed in the fourth quarter 2019 (consistent with our estimates as of December 31, 2017). Our current forecast for the project anticipates improvement in productivity from our overall historical experience on the project (as we anticipate improved construction performance for each subsequent LNG train) and actions to significantly reduce our schedule related indirect costs. If future direct and subcontract labor productivity differ from our current estimates, we are unable to achieve our progress estimates, our schedules are extended, we do not achieve our schedule related incentives, or we are unable to reduce our schedule related costs to the levels anticipated, the project would experience further losses. During the second half of 2017 our U.S. LNG export facility project in Freeport, Texas, within our Engineering & Construction operating group was impacted by Hurricane Harvey. The direct impacts of Hurricane Harvey included

the cost of demobilization and remobilization and damaged pipe and other materials. These direct impacts were included in our forecasts for the project during 2017 and were partially offset by an increase in project price for claims and anticipated insurance recoveries on the project. We are continuing to evaluate and estimate the indirect impacts of the Hurricane, including potential impacts to productivity and prolongation costs, and the impact of owner decisions to replace or refurbish damaged pipe and materials. We anticipate providing the owner an estimate of the indirect impacts on the project in the second quarter 2018. Such impacts have not been included in our forecasts, and although such impacts could be significant, we believe any costs incurred as a result of Hurricane Harvey (subject to unallowable costs which we have accounted for) are recoverable under the contractual provisions of our contract, including force majeure. Our current forecast for the project anticipates improvement in productivity from our overall historical experience on the project (as we anticipate improved construction performance for each subsequent LNG train) and actions to significantly reduce our schedule related indirect costs. If future direct and subcontract

Table of Contents

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

labor productivity differ from our current estimates, we are unable to achieve our progress estimates, our schedules are extended, we are unable to reduce our schedule related costs to the levels anticipated, we are unable to fully recover the direct and indirect costs associated with the impacts of Hurricane Harvey, or the project incurs schedule liquidated damages due to our inability to reach a favorable legal or commercial resolution on such matters, the project would experience further decreases in estimated margins.

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our management structure and internal and public segment reporting are aligned based upon the services offered by our three operating groups, which represent our reportable segments: Engineering & Construction; Fabrication Services; and Technology. Our chief operating decision maker evaluates the performance of our operating groups based on revenue and income from operations. Each operating group's income from operations reflects corporate costs, allocated based primarily upon revenue. Intersegment revenue is netted against the revenue of the segment receiving the intersegment services. For the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, intersegment revenue totaled approximately \$69,100 and \$141,400, respectively. Intersegment revenue for these periods primarily related to services provided by our Fabrication Services operating group to our Engineering & Construction operating group. During the first quarter 2018, we realigned our Fabrication Services and Technology operating groups to reflect the present management oversight of our operations. Our "Engineered Products Operations", which was previously reported within our Fabrication Services operating group, is now reported within our Technology operating group. The segment information for 2017 has been recast to conform to the 2018 presentation.

The following table presents total revenue and income from operations by reportable segment for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017:

chaca March 51, 2010 and 201	L / •				
	Three Months Ended				
	March 31,				
	2018	2017			
Revenue					
Engineering & Construction	\$1,365,395	\$1,280,753			
Fabrication Services	262,653	422,677			
Technology	117,571	123,922			
Total revenue	\$1,745,619	\$1,827,352			
Income From Operations					
Engineering & Construction	\$54,817	\$5,414			
Fabrication Services	25,592	33,497			
Technology	32,398	40,077			
Total operating groups	\$112,807	\$78,988			
Restructuring related costs	(5,110)	_			
Total income from operations	\$107,697	\$78,988			
The following table presents b	acklog and to	tal accete by r			

The following table presents backlog and total assets by reportable segment at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

	March 31,	December 31,
	2018	2017
Backlog		
Engineering & Construction	\$6,813,855	\$7,675,662
Fabrication Services	1,584,708	1,532,592
Technology	970,438	947,568
Total backlog	\$9,369,001	\$10,155,822

Assets

 Engineering & Construction
 \$3,276,772
 \$3,142,224

 Fabrication Services
 1,606,157
 1,607,419

 Technology
 1,137,644
 1,221,939

 Total assets
 \$6,020,573
 \$5,971,582

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" is provided to
assist readers in understanding our financial performance during the periods presented and significant trends that may
impact our future performance. This discussion should be read in conjunction with our Financial Statements and the
related notes thereto.

OVERVIEW

General—We provide a wide range of services through our three operating groups, including conceptual design, technology, engineering, procurement, fabrication, modularization, construction and commissioning services to customers in the energy infrastructure market throughout the world. Our operating groups, which represent our reportable segments and continuing operations, include Engineering & Construction; Fabrication Services; and Technology.

During the first quarter 2018, we realigned our Fabrication Services and Technology operating groups to reflect the present management oversight of our operations. Our "Engineered Products Operations", which was previously reported within our Fabrication Services operating group, is now reported within our Technology operating group. The segment information for 2017 has been recast to conform to the 2018 presentation. See Note 17 to our Financial Statements for further discussion of the realignment of our reportable segments.

On December 18, 2017, we entered into an agreement (the "Combination Agreement") to combine with McDermott International, Inc. ("McDermott") in an all-stock transaction whereby McDermott stockholders will own approximately 53% of the combined company and our shareholders will own approximately 47% (the "Combination"). Under the terms of the Combination Agreement, our shareholders would be entitled to receive 2.47221 shares of McDermott common stock for each share of our common stock (or 0.82407 shares if McDermott effects a planned three-to-one reverse stock split prior to closing), together with cash in lieu of fractional shares and subject to any applicable withholding taxes. A meeting of our shareholders and a meeting of McDermott stockholders to vote on their respective Combination-related proposals have each been scheduled for May 2, 2018. The Combination is anticipated to close in the second quarter 2018, subject to receipt of approval of our shareholders and McDermott stockholders, and satisfaction of other customary closing conditions. See Note 2 to our Financial Statements for further discussion of the Combination.

On June 30, 2017, we completed the sale of our "Capital Services Operations" (primarily comprised of our former Capital Services reportable segment) to CSVC Acquisition Corp ("CSVC"). Our Capital Services Operations provided comprehensive and integrated maintenance services, environmental engineering and remediation, construction services, program management, and disaster response and recovery services for private-sector customers and governments. We considered the Capital Services Operations to be a discontinued operation, and accordingly, its operating results for the first quarter 2017 are classified as a discontinued operation within our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (the "Statement(s) of Operations"). Cash flows of the Capital Services Operations for the first quarter 2017 are not reported separately within our Statements of Cash Flows. See Note 2 and Note 5 to our Financial Statements for further discussion of our discontinued Capital Services Operations. We continue to be broadly diversified across the global energy infrastructure market with a backlog of \$9.4 billion at March 31, 2018 (excluding approximately \$1.1 billion related to our equity method joint ventures). The geographic mix of our revenue will evolve consistent with changes in our backlog mix, as well as shifts in future global energy demand. Our diversity in energy infrastructure end markets ranges from downstream activities such as gas processing, liquefied natural gas ("LNG"), refining, and petrochemicals, to fossil based power plants and upstream activities such as offshore oil and gas and onshore oil sands projects. Planned investments across the natural gas value chain, including LNG and petrochemicals, remain strong over the intermediate to long term, and we anticipate additional benefits from continued investments in projects based on U.S. shale gas. Global investments in power and petrochemical facilities are expected to continue, as are investments in various types of facilities which require storage structures and pre-fabricated pipe.

Our long-term contracts are awarded on a competitively bid and negotiated basis using a range of contracting options, including cost-reimbursable, fixed-price and hybrid, which has both cost-reimbursable and fixed-price characteristics. Under cost-reimbursable contracts, we generally perform our services in exchange for a price that consists of

reimbursement of all customer-approved costs and a profit component, which is typically a fixed rate per hour, an overall fixed fee or a percentage of total reimbursable costs. Under fixed-price contracts, we perform our services and execute our projects at an established price. The timing of our revenue recognition may be impacted by the contracting structure of our contracts. Cost-reimbursable contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant cost-reimbursable component, generally provide our customers with greater influence over the timing of when we perform our work, and accordingly, such contracts often result in less predictability with respect to the timing of our revenue. Fixed-price contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant fixed-price component, tend to provide us with greater control over project schedule and the timing of when work is performed and costs are incurred, and accordingly, when revenue is recognized. Our shorter-term contracts and services are generally provided on a cost-reimbursable, fixed-price or unit price basis. Our March 31, 2018 backlog distribution by contracting type

Table of Contents

was approximately 90% fixed-price or hybrid basis and 10% cost-reimbursable and is further described below within our operating group discussion.

Backlog represents the unrecognized revenue value of our contract commitments. New awards represent the total expected revenue value of new contract commitments received during a given period, as well as scope growth on existing contract commitments. New awards and backlog include the entire award values for joint ventures we consolidate and our proportionate share of award values for joint ventures we proportionately consolidate. As the net results for our equity method joint ventures are recognized as equity earnings, their revenue is not presented in our Statements of Operations, and accordingly, are excluded from our new awards and GAAP basis backlog. Backlog for each of our operating groups generally consists of several hundred contracts, which are being executed globally. These contracts vary in size from less than one hundred thousand dollars in contract value to several billion dollars, with varying durations that can exceed five years. The timing of new awards and differing types, sizes, and durations of our contracts, combined with their geographic diversity and stages of completion, often results in fluctuations in our quarterly operating group results as a percentage of operating group revenue. In addition, the relative contribution of each of our operating groups, and selling and administrative expense fluctuations, will impact our quarterly consolidated results as a percentage of consolidated revenue. Selling and administrative expense fluctuations are impacted by our stock-based compensation costs, which are generally higher in the first quarter of each year due to the timing of stock awards and the accelerated expensing of awards for participants that are eligible to retire.

In addition to the quarterly variability that occurs in our business, our future quarterly consolidated operating results will be impacted by the sale of our Capital Services Operations, which closed on June 30, 2017 and is reported as a discontinued operation (see Note 2 and Note 5 to our Financial Statements for further discussion). In addition, as discussed in our 2017 Form 10-K, during 2017 we experienced changes in estimated margins on our two U.S. LNG export facility projects and our U.S. gas turbine power project in the Northeast (all within our Engineering & Construction operating group), which will result in future revenue on the projects being recognized at these lower margins until the backlog for such projects is completed.

As a result of noncompliance with certain financial covenants, during 2017 we entered into amendments for our Senior Facilities (defined below). Further, as discussed above, on December 18, 2017, we entered into the Combination Agreement with McDermott. The Combination is anticipated to close in the second quarter 2018, subject to receipt of approval of our shareholders and McDermott stockholders and other customary closing conditions. At March 31, 2018, we were in compliance with all of our restrictive and financial covenants. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" below for further discussion.

Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group provides engineering, procurement, and construction ("EPC") services for major energy infrastructure facilities.

Backlog for our Engineering & Construction operating group comprised approximately \$6.8 billion (73%) of our consolidated March 31, 2018 backlog (excluding approximately \$538.2 million related to our equity method joint ventures). The backlog composition by end market was approximately 30% power, 30% petrochemical, 20% LNG, and 20% refining. Our petrochemical backlog was primarily concentrated in the U.S. (and the Middle East with respect to our equity method backlog) and we anticipate that our future opportunities will continue to be primarily derived from these regions. Our LNG backlog was primarily concentrated in the U.S. and we anticipate that our future opportunities will be primarily derived from the U.S. and Africa. Our power backlog was primarily concentrated in the U.S. and we anticipate that our future opportunities will be primarily derived from North America. Our refining-related backlog was primarily concentrated in the Middle East and Russia and we anticipate that our future opportunities will continue to be primarily derived from these regions. Our March 31, 2018 backlog distribution for this operating group by contracting type was approximately 85% fixed-price and hybrid and 15% cost-reimbursable. Backlog related to our equity method joint ventures was primarily associated with our petrochemical work in the Middle East.

Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group provides fabrication and erection of steel plate structures; fabrication of piping systems and process modules; and manufacturing and distribution of pipe and fittings.

Backlog for our Fabrication Services operating group comprised approximately \$1.6 billion (17%) of our consolidated March 31, 2018 backlog. The backlog composition by end market was approximately 40% petrochemical, 25% LNG (including low temp and cryogenic), 15% power, 10% gas processing, 5% refining, and 5% other end markets. Our March 31, 2018 backlog distribution for this operating group by contracting type was primarily comprised of fixed-price, hybrid, or unit based contracts.

Technology—Our Technology operating group provides proprietary process technology licenses and associated engineering services, catalysts and engineered products, primarily for the petrochemical and refining industries, and offers process planning and project development services and a comprehensive program of aftermarket support. Technology also has a 50% owned unconsolidated joint venture that provides proprietary process technology licenses and associated engineering

Table of Contents

services and catalysts, primarily for the refining industry, as well as a 33.3% owned unconsolidated joint venture that is commercializing a new natural gas power generation system that recovers the carbon dioxide produced during combustion.

Backlog for our Technology operating group comprised approximately \$1.0 billion (10%) of our consolidated March 31, 2018 backlog (excluding approximately \$593.2 million related to our equity method joint ventures) and was primarily comprised of fixed-price contracts.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our backlog, new awards, revenue and income from operations by reportable segment are as follows:

Our backlog, new awards, revenue and meome from operation	ions by reportable	ic segment a	ic as follows.	
	March 31,	% of Total	December	% of
Daglilag	2018		31, 2017	Total
Backlog Engineering & Construction	(In thousands)	73%	¢ 7 675 660	7607
Engineering & Construction Fabrication Services	\$6,813,855	13% 17%	\$7,675,662	76%
	1,584,708		1,532,592	15% 9%
Technology Tetal healthan avaluating aguity method healthan (CAAP)	970,438	10%	947,568	
Total backlog - excluding equity method backlog (GAAP)	9,369,001	100%	10,155,822 655,174	100%
Engineering & Construction equity method backlog	538,246		,	
Technology equity method backlog	593,226		579,311	
Total equity method backlog	1,131,472		1,234,485	
Total backlog - including equity method backlog (1)	\$ 10,500,473		\$11,390,307	
	Three Months	Ended Marc	h 31,	
	2018	% of Total	2017	% of Total
New Awards	(In thousands)			
Engineering & Construction	\$ 664,853	59%	\$ 2,236,173	80%
Fabrication Services	310,905	27%	339,065	12%
Technology	157,599	14%	220,893	8%
Total new awards - excluding equity method new awards	1,133,357	100%	2,796,131	100%
Technology equity method new awards	24,780		46,656	
Total new awards - including equity method new awards	\$1,158,137		\$ 2,842,787	
		% of		% of
	2018	Total	2017	Total
Revenue		10141		10141
Engineering & Construction	\$1,365,395	78%	\$1,280,753	70%
Fabrication Services	262,653	15%	422,677	23%
Technology	117,571	7%	123,922	7%
Total revenue	\$1,745,619	100%	\$1,827,352	100%
		% of		% of
	2018	Revenue	2017	Revenue
Income From Operations		Revenue		Revenue
Engineering & Construction	\$ 54,817	4.0%	\$ 5,414	0.4%
Fabrication Services	25,592	9.7%	33,497	7.9%
Technology	32,392	27.6%	40,077	32.3%
Total operating groups	112,807	6.5%	78,988	4.3%
Restructuring related costs	(5,110)	0.5 /0	70,700	T.J /U
Total income operations	\$107,697	6.2%	 \$ 78,988	4.3%
(1)	ψ 107,097	0.2 /0	ψ 10,200	T.J /0

The break-out of March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 backlog including equity method backlog represents a non-GAAP financial disclosure, which we believe provides a better indication of the total unearned value of our new awards.

Table of Contents

Consolidated Results

New Awards/Backlog—As discussed in the Overview section above, backlog represents the unrecognized revenue value of our contract commitments. New awards represent the total expected revenue value of new contract commitments received during a given period, as well as scope growth on existing contract commitments. New awards and backlog include the entire award values for joint ventures we consolidate and our proportionate share of award values for joint ventures we proportionately consolidate. As the net results for our equity method joint ventures are recognized as equity earnings, their revenue is not presented in our Statements of Operations, and accordingly, are excluded from our new awards and GAAP basis backlog. Our new awards may vary significantly each reporting period based on the timing of our major new contract commitments.

New awards were \$1.1 billion for the first quarter 2018 (excluding approximately \$24.8 million related to our equity method joint ventures), compared with \$2.8 billion (excluding approximately \$46.7 million related to our equity method joint ventures) for the corresponding 2017 period. Significant new awards for the first quarter 2018 included a refinery expansion project in the Middle East (approximately \$500.0 million) within our Engineering & Construction operating group and a storage tank award for a petrochemical complex expansion project in the Asia Pacific region (approximately \$70.0 million) within our Fabrication Services operating group. Significant new awards for the first quarter 2017 included an ethane cracker project in the U.S. (approximately \$1.3 billion) within our Engineering & Construction and Technology operating groups and a gas turbine power project in the U.S. (approximately \$600.0 million) within our Engineering & Construction operating group. See Operating Group Results below for further discussion.

Backlog at March 31, 2018 was approximately \$9.4 billion (excluding approximately \$1.1 billion related to our equity method joint ventures), compared with \$10.2 billion at December 31, 2017 (excluding approximately \$1.2 billion related to our equity method joint ventures), with the decrease primarily reflecting the impact of revenue exceeding new awards by approximately \$612.3 million (excluding approximately \$126.6 million of revenue and the approximate \$24.8 million of new awards for our unconsolidated equity method joint ventures).

Certain contracts within our Engineering & Construction operating group are dependent upon funding from the U.S. government, where funds are appropriated on a year-by-year basis, while contract performance may take more than one year. Approximately \$356.0 million of our backlog at March 31, 2018 for the operating group was for contractual commitments that are subject to future funding decisions.

Revenue—Revenue was \$1.7 billion for the first quarter 2018, representing a decrease of \$81.7 million (4.5%) compared with the corresponding 2017 period. Our first quarter 2018 and 2017 revenue exclude approximately \$126.6 million and \$83.7 million, respectively, of revenue for our unconsolidated equity method joint ventures.

Our first quarter 2018 revenue was primarily impacted by the wind down of our large cost reimbursable LNG mechanical erection project and various other projects in the Asia Pacific region within our Engineering & Construction operating group and decreased fabrication activity within our Fabrication Services operating group. These impacts were partly offset by increased activity on various projects in the U.S. within our Engineering & Construction operating group. See Operating Group Results below for further discussion.

Gross Profit—Gross profit was \$173.1 million (9.9% of revenue) for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$151.0 million (8.3% of revenue) for the corresponding 2017 period. Our first quarter 2018 gross profit increased compared to the 2017 period due to the net impact of changes in estimated margins recorded during the first quarter 2017, partly offset by the impact of a lower margin percentage recognized on work performed during the first quarter 2018 for our two U.S. LNG export facility projects as a result of changes in estimated margins on the projects during 2017. See Operating Group Results below for further discussion.

Selling and Administrative Expense—Selling and administrative expense was \$64.5 million (3.7% of revenue) for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$73.1 million (4.0% of revenue) for the corresponding 2017 period. The decrease for the first quarter 2018 was primarily due to the benefit of our cost reduction initiatives, partly offset by inflationary increases. Stock-based compensation expense totaled approximately \$9.1 million and \$9.6 million for the first quarter 2018 and 2017, respectively, or 31% and 20% of estimated annual expense for each of the respective periods. Intangibles Amortization—Intangibles amortization was \$6.6 million for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$6.5 million for the corresponding 2017 period.

Equity Earnings—Equity earnings were \$9.4 million for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$7.6 million for the corresponding 2017 period and were primarily associated with our unconsolidated CTCI and CLG joint ventures within our Engineering & Construction and Technology operating groups, respectively. The increase for the first quarter 2018 was primarily due to increased activity for our CTCI joint venture.

Table of Contents

Restructuring Related Costs—Restructuring related costs were \$5.1 million for the first quarter 2018, and were associated with professional fees (approximately \$3.8 million) and severance costs (approximately \$1.3 million), resulting primarily from our publicly announced cost reduction, facility rationalization and strategic initiatives, as further described in Note 9 to our Financial Statements.

Income from Operations—Income from operations was \$107.7 million (6.2% of revenue) for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$79.0 million (4.3% of revenue) for the corresponding 2017 period. The table below summarizes our first quarter 2018 results excluding restructuring related costs.

(1) The break-out of first quarter 2018 income from operations represents a non-GAAP financial disclosure, which we believe provides better comparability with our first quarter 2017 results.

Excluding the impact of the restructuring related costs, income from operations was approximately \$112.8 million (6.5% of revenue) for the first quarter 2018. The changes in our first quarter 2018 income from operations compared to the 2017 period were due to the reasons noted above. See Operating Group Results below for further discussion. Interest Expense and Interest Income—Interest expense was \$52.5 million for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$24.1 million for the corresponding 2017 period. Approximately \$6.9 million of interest expense for the first quarter 2017 was classified within discontinued operations as a result of the requirement to use the proceeds from the sale of our former Capital Services Operations to repay our debt. Our first quarter 2018 interest expense was impacted by higher interest rates due to previous debt covenant amendments. Interest income was \$0.6 million for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$1.2 million for the corresponding 2017 period. Our first quarter 2018 interest income was impacted by lower average cash balances and changes in the geographic concentration of where our interest is earned. Income Tax Expense—Income tax expense was \$11.2 million (20.0% of pre-tax income) for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$13.7 million (24.4% of pre-tax income) for the corresponding 2017 period. Our first quarter 2018 tax rate benefited from the reversal of valuation allowances on our net deferred tax assets (approximately 12.0%) to the extent of 2018 income for each applicable jurisdiction. Our first quarter 2017 tax rate benefited from earnings represented by noncontrolling interests (approximately 2.0%) and previously unrecognized tax benefits (approximately 4.0%), partly offset by the impact of tax deficiencies associated with share-based payments (approximately 5.0%).

Our tax rate increased relative to the 2017 period, excluding the impacts of the aforementioned items for the 2018 and 2017 periods, primarily due to the net impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (approximately 5.0%). Our tax rate may continue to experience fluctuations due primarily to changes in the projected geographic distribution of our pre-tax income.

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests—Noncontrolling interests are primarily associated with our consolidated joint venture projects within our Engineering & Construction operating group and certain operations in the Middle East within our Fabrication Services operating group. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests was \$0.8 million for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$27.3 million for the corresponding 2017 period with the decrease primarily associated with the wind down of our large cost reimbursable LNG mechanical erection project in the Asia Pacific region. See Operating Group Results below for further discussion.

Operating Group Results

Engineering & Construction

New Awards—New awards were \$664.9 million for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$2.2 billion for the corresponding 2017 period. Significant new awards for the first quarter 2018 included a refinery expansion project in the Middle East (approximately \$500.0 million). Significant new awards for the first quarter 2017 included an ethane cracker project in the U.S. (approximately \$1.2 billion) and a gas turbine power project in the U.S. (approximately

\$600.0 million).

Revenue—Revenue was \$1.4 billion for the first quarter 2018, representing an increase of \$84.6 million (6.6%) compared with the corresponding 2017 period. Our first quarter 2018 revenue benefited from increased activity on various projects in the U.S., partly offset by the wind down of our large cost reimbursable LNG mechanical erection project (approximately \$107.0 million) and various other projects in the Asia Pacific region.

Table of Contents

Approximately \$637.0 million of the operating group's first quarter 2018 revenue was attributable to our two U.S. LNG export facility projects, compared with approximately \$632.0 million for the corresponding 2017 period. Our large cost reimbursable LNG mechanical erection project in the Asia Pacific region that was substantially completed by December 31, 2017 generated approximately \$107.0 million for the first quarter 2017.

Income from Operations—Income from operations was \$54.8 million (4.0% of revenue) for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$5.4 million (0.4% of revenue) for the corresponding 2017 period. Our results for the first quarter 2018 were impacted by a lower margin percentage recognized on work performed during the quarter for our two U.S. LNG export facility projects (approximately \$40.0 million) as a result of changes in estimated margins on the projects during 2017. This impact was partially offset by the benefit of higher revenue volume and a higher margin mix on our remaining backlog.

Our first quarter 2017 results were impacted by significant changes in estimated margins on three projects which resulted in a decrease to our income from operations of approximately \$167.0 million (approximately \$143.0 million for our U.S. gas turbine power projects in the Midwest and Northeast ("Two Gas Projects") and approximately \$24.0 million for our U.S. LNG export facility project in Hackberry, Louisiana). The Two Gas Projects were impacted by cost increases due to lower than anticipated labor productivity and extensions of schedule, and the project in Hackberry was impacted by the net effects of increased fabrication costs, and craft labor, subcontractor and indirect costs associated with an extension of schedule, partly offset by the benefit of an increase in project price for claims on the project (which were resolved in the fourth quarter 2017). In addition, changes in estimated margins on a large consolidated joint venture project and a separate cost reimbursable project resulted in an increase to our income from operations of approximately \$103.0 million (both benefiting from changes in estimated recoveries on the projects). Two Gas Projects

At March 31, 2018, our U.S. gas turbine power project in the Midwest was in a loss position. The project was over 99% complete at March 31, 2018, and we have submitted a letter of "substantial completion" to the customer for acceptance. If the project incurs schedule liquidated damages due to our inability to reach a favorable commercial resolution on such matters, the project would experience further losses.

At March 31, 2018, our U.S. gas turbine power project in the Northeast was in a loss position. The project was approximately 84% complete and had a reserve for estimated losses of approximately \$60.0 million at March 31, 2018, and is forecasted to be completed in the fourth quarter 2018 (consistent with our estimates as of December 31, 2017). Our current forecast for the project anticipates productivity levels that are consistent with our overall historical experience on the project and improved progress (due in part to anticipated improvement in weather conditions as the project moves out of the winter months), and actions to reduce our schedule related indirect costs. If future direct and subcontract labor productivity differ from our current estimates, we are unable to achieve our progress estimates, our schedule is extended, or we do not achieve our schedule related incentives, the project would experience further losses.

Two LNG Projects

At March 31, 2018, our U.S. LNG export facility project in Hackberry, Louisiana was in a loss position. The project was approximately 84% complete and had a reserve for estimated losses of approximately \$13.0 million at March 31, 2018, and is forecasted to be completed in the fourth quarter 2019 (consistent with our estimates as of December 31, 2017). Our current forecast for the project anticipates improvement in productivity from our overall historical experience on the project (as we anticipate improved construction performance for each subsequent LNG train) and actions to significantly reduce our schedule related indirect costs. If future direct and subcontract labor productivity differ from our current estimates, we are unable to achieve our progress estimates, our schedules are extended, we do not achieve our schedule related incentives, or we are unable to reduce our schedule related costs to the levels anticipated, the project would experience further losses.

During the second half of 2017 our U.S. LNG export facility project in Freeport, Texas was impacted by Hurricane Harvey. The direct impacts of Hurricane Harvey included the cost of demobilization and remobilization and damaged pipe and other materials. These direct impacts were included in our forecasts for the project during 2017 and were partially offset by an increase in project price for claims and anticipated insurance recoveries on the project. We are continuing to evaluate and estimate the indirect impacts of the Hurricane, including potential impacts to productivity

and prolongation costs, and the impact of owner decisions to replace or refurbish damaged pipe and materials. We anticipate providing the owner an estimate of the indirect impacts on the project in the second quarter 2018. Such impacts have not been included in our forecasts, and although such impacts could be significant, we believe any costs incurred as a result of Hurricane Harvey (subject to unallowable costs which we have accounted for) are recoverable under the contractual provisions of our contract, including force majeure. Our current forecast for the project anticipates improvement in productivity from our overall historical experience on the project (as we anticipate improved construction performance for each subsequent LNG train) and actions to significantly reduce our schedule related indirect costs. If future direct and subcontract labor productivity differ from our current estimates, we are unable to achieve our progress estimates, our schedules are extended, we are unable to reduce our schedule related costs to the levels anticipated, we are unable to fully recover the direct and indirect costs associated with the

Table of Contents

impacts of Hurricane Harvey, or the project incurs schedule liquidated damages due to our inability to reach a favorable legal or commercial resolution on such matters, the project would experience further decreases in estimated margins.

Fabrication Services

New Awards—New awards were \$310.9 million for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$339.1 million for the corresponding 2017 period. Significant new awards for the first quarter 2018 included a storage tank award for a petrochemical complex expansion project in the Asia Pacific region (approximately \$70.0 million) and various storage tank awards throughout the world. Significant new awards for the first quarter 2017 included various storage and pipe fabrication awards throughout the world.

Revenue—Revenue was \$262.7 million for the first quarter 2018, representing a decrease of \$160.0 million (37.9%) compared with the corresponding 2017 period. Our first quarter 2018 revenue was impacted by decreased fabrication activity and decreased tank work in the U.S., Middle East and the Asia Pacific region.

Income from Operations—Income from operations was \$25.6 million (9.7% of revenue) for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$33.5 million (7.9% of revenue) for the corresponding 2017 period. Our first quarter 2018 results benefited from a higher margin mix on our backlog, offset partially by lower revenue volume and reduced leverage of our operating costs.

Technology

New Awards—New awards were \$157.6 million for the first quarter 2018 (excluding approximately \$24.8 million related to our equity method joint ventures), compared with \$220.9 million for the corresponding 2017 period (excluding approximately \$46.7 million related to our equity method joint ventures). New awards for the first quarter 2018 included petrochemical licensing and engineered products, primarily in the Middle East and Asia Pacific region. New awards for the first quarter 2017 included engineered products for the aforementioned ethane cracker project in the U.S. (approximately \$80.0 million) and petrochemical and refining licensing and catalyst, primarily in the Asia Pacific region.

Revenue—Revenue was \$117.6 million for the first quarter 2018, representing a decrease of \$6.4 million (5%) compared with the corresponding 2017 period. Our first quarter 2018 revenue was impacted by a decreased engineered products activity.

Income from Operations—Income from operations was \$32.4 million (27.6% of revenue) for the first quarter 2018, compared with \$40.1 million (32.3% of revenue) for the corresponding 2017 period. Our first quarter 2018 results were impacted by a lower margin mix for our engineered products activity.

Discontinued Capital Services Operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2017 (In

thousands)
New Awards \$472,358
Revenue \$552,947
Income From Operations \$19,044
% of Revenue 3.4

Our discontinued Capital Services Operations, which were sold on June 30, 2017, provided comprehensive and integrated maintenance services, environmental engineering and remediation, construction services, program management, and disaster response and recovery services for private-sector customers and governments.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

General

Cash and Cash Equivalents—At March 31, 2018, our cash and cash equivalents were \$305.2 million, and were maintained in local accounts throughout the world, substantially all of which were maintained outside The

Netherlands, our country of domicile. Approximately \$113.1 million of our cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2018 was within our variable interest entities ("VIEs") associated with our partnering arrangements, which is generally only available for use in our operating activities when distributed to the partners.

With respect to tax consequences associated with repatriating our foreign earnings, distributions from our European Union ("EU") subsidiaries to their Netherlands parent companies are not subject to taxation. Further, for our non-EU companies and their subsidiaries and our U.S. companies, to the extent taxes apply, the amount of permanently reinvested earnings becomes taxable upon repatriation of assets from the subsidiary or liquidation of the subsidiary. We have accrued taxes

Table of Contents

on undistributed earnings that we intend to repatriate and we intend to permanently reinvest the remaining undistributed earnings in their respective businesses, and accordingly, have accrued no taxes on such amounts. Summary of Cash Flow Activity

Operating Activities—During the first quarter 2018, net cash used in operating activities was \$240.3 million, primarily due to a net increase of \$236.0 million in our accounts receivable, inventory, accounts payable and net contracts in progress account balances (collectively, "Contract Capital"). The components of our net Contract Capital balances for our continuing operations at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 and changes during the first quarter 2018, were as follows:

December

	March 31, 2018	31, 2017	Change
	(In thousand	s)	
Total billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings (1)	\$(1,155,780)	\$(1,275,441)	\$119,661
Total costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings (1)	392,589	315,744	76,845
Contracts in Progress, net	(763,191	(959,697)	196,506
Accounts receivable, net	766,123	759,701	6,422
Inventory	112,978	101,573	11,405
Accounts payable	(950,075	(971,735)	21,660
Contract Capital, net	\$(834,165	\$(1,070,158)	\$235,993

Represents our cash position relative to revenue recognized on projects, with (i) billings in excess of costs and (1) estimated earnings representing a liability reflective of future cash expenditures and non-cash earnings, and (ii) costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings representing an asset reflective of future cash receipts.

Fluctuations in our Contract Capital balance, and its components, are not unusual in our business and are impacted by the size of our projects and changing mix of cost-reimbursable versus fixed-price backlog. Our cost-reimbursable projects tend to have a greater working capital requirement ("costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings"), while our fixed-price projects are generally structured to be cash flow positive ("billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings"). Our Contract Capital is particularly impacted by the timing of new awards and related payments in advance of performing work, and the achievement of billing milestones on backlog as we complete certain phases of work. Contract Capital is also impacted at period-end by the timing of accounts receivable collections and accounts payable payments for our large projects.

The \$236.0 million increase in our Contract Capital during the first quarter 2018 was primarily due to a net increase in accounts receivable and contracts in progress and a decrease in accounts payable. The net increase in accounts receivable and contracts in progress was primarily due to the net use of advance payments on our large projects in the U.S. within our Engineering & Construction operating group and funding of losses accrued in 2017 on our U.S. gas turbine power projects in the Midwest and Northeast and U.S. LNG export facility project in Hackberry, Louisiana, within our Engineering & Construction operating group. Although we anticipate future quarterly variability in our operating cash flows due to ongoing fluctuations in our Contract Capital balance and the prospective cash impacts from funding of the loss projects described above, we expect improving cash flows from operating activities as the year progresses. See "Credit Facilities and Debt" below for further discussion of our liquidity.

Investing Activities—During the first quarter 2018, net cash provided by investing activities was \$18.8 million, and primarily related to net inflows from advances of \$52.0 million with our venture partners by our proportionately consolidated ventures (see Note 8 to our Financial Statements for further discussion), partly offset by outflows of \$24.6 million associated with payments made to CSVC in connection with the finalization of working capital adjustments associated with the sale of our former Capital Services Operations (reflected within Other, net on the Statement of Cash Flows) and capital expenditures of \$8.1 million.

Financing Activities—During the first quarter 2018, net cash provided by financing activities was \$164.4 million, and primarily related to net revolving facility and other short-term borrowings of \$286.0 million and cash proceeds from the issuance of shares associated with our stock plans of \$4.1 million. These cash inflows were partly offset by net advances with our equity method and proportionately consolidated ventures and partners of \$98.3 million (see Note 8

to our Financial Statements for further discussion), repayments on our long-term debt of \$18.8 million, stock-based compensation-related withholding taxes on taxable share distributions totaling \$3.2 million (0.2 million shares at an average price of \$17.72 per share), distributions to our noncontrolling interest partners of \$3.0 million, and capitalized debt issuance costs of \$2.4 million.

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents—During the first quarter 2018, our cash and cash equivalents balance increased by \$7.7 million due to the impact of changes in functional currency exchange rates against the U.S. Dollar for non-U.S. Dollar cash balances, primarily for net changes in the Australian Dollar, British Pound, Colombian

Table of Contents

Peso, and Euro exchange rates. The net unrealized gain on our cash and cash equivalents resulting from these exchange rate movements is reflected in the cumulative translation adjustment component of OCI. Our cash and cash equivalents held in non-U.S. Dollar currencies are used primarily for project-related and other operating expenditures in those currencies, and therefore, our exposure to realized exchange gains and losses is not anticipated to be material. Credit Facilities and Debt

General—Our primary internal source of liquidity is cash flow generated from operations and capacity under our revolving credit and other facilities discussed below. Such facilities are used to fund operating, investing and financing activities, and provide necessary letters of credit. Letters of credit are generally issued to customers in the ordinary course of business to support advance payments and performance guarantees, in lieu of retention on our contracts, or in certain cases, are issued in support of our insurance programs.

Committed Facilities—We have a five-year, \$1.15 billion committed revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Facility") with Bank of America N.A. ("BofA"), as administrative agent, and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., BBVA Compass, Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank ("Credit Agricole") and TD Securities, each as syndication agents, which expires in October 2018. The Revolving Facility has a \$100.0 million total letter of credit sublimit. At March 31, 2018, we had \$847.4 million and \$71.9 million of outstanding borrowings and letters of credit, respectively, under the facility (including \$0.1 million of financial letters of credit), providing \$227.1 million of available capacity, of which \$28.1 million was available for letters of credit based on our total letter of credit sublimit. We also have a five-year, \$800.0 million committed revolving credit facility (the "Second Revolving Facility") with BofA, as administrative agent, and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., BBVA Compass, Credit Agricole and Bank of Tokyo Mitsubishi UFJ, each as syndication agents, which expires in July 2020. The Second Revolving Facility has a \$100.0 million total letter of credit sublimit. At March 31, 2018, we had \$540.7 million of outstanding borrowings and \$99.5 million of outstanding letters of credit under the facility (including \$2.7 million of financial letters of credit), providing \$157.1 million of available capacity, of which \$0.5 million was available for letters of credit based on our total letter of credit sublimit.

Maximum outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facility (together, "Committed Facilities") during the three months ended March 31, 2018, were approximately \$1.7 billion. We are assessed quarterly commitment fees on the unutilized portion of the facilities as well as letter of credit fees on outstanding letters of credit. Interest on borrowings is assessed at either prime plus 4.00% or LIBOR plus 5.00%. In addition, fees for financial and performance letters of credit are 5.00% and 3.50%, respectively. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, our weighted average interest rate on borrowings under the Revolving Facility and Second Revolving Facility was approximately 6.89% and 8.02%, respectively, inclusive of the applicable floating margin. As a result of the 2017 amendments described below, our debt obligations under the Committed Facilities are required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination. The Committed Facilities have financial and restrictive covenants described further below.

Uncommitted Facilities—We have various short-term, uncommitted letter of credit facilities (the "Uncommitted Facilities") across several geographic regions, under which we had \$1.6 billion of outstanding letters of credit as of March 31, 2018.

Term Loan—At March 31, 2018, we had \$422.0 million outstanding under a five-year, \$500.0 million term loan (the "Term Loan") with BofA as administrative agent. Interest and principal under the Term Loan is payable quarterly in arrears, and interest is assessed at either prime plus 4.00% or LIBOR plus 5.00%. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, our weighted average interest rate on the Term Loan was approximately 7.10%, inclusive of the applicable floating margin. Future annual maturities for the Term Loan are \$56.3 million, \$75.0 million and \$290.7 million for 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively. As a result of the 2017 amendments described below, our debt obligations under the Term Loan are required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination. The Term Loan has financial and restrictive covenants described further below.

Senior Notes—We have a series of senior notes totaling \$584.6 million in aggregate principal amount outstanding as of March 31, 2018 (the "Senior Notes"). The Senior Notes include Series A through D and contained the following terms at March 31, 2018:

Series A—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 9.15%, with principal of \$104.7 million due in August 2018

Series B—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 7.57%, with principal of \$165.8 million due in December 2019 Series C—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 8.15%, with principal of \$195.2 million due in December 2022 Series D—Interest due semi-annually at a fixed rate of 8.30%, with principal of \$118.9 million due in December 2024 We also have senior notes totaling \$141.9 million in aggregate principal amount outstanding as of March 31, 2018 (the "Second Senior Notes") with BofA as administrative agent. Interest is payable semi-annually at a fixed rate of 7.53%, with principal of \$141.9 million due in July 2025.

Table of Contents

The Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes (together, the "Notes") also include provisions relating to our credit profile, which if not maintained will result in an incremental annual cost of up to 1.50% of the outstanding balance under the Notes. Further, the Notes include provisions relating to our leverage, which if not maintained, could result in an incremental annual cost of up to 1.00% (depending on our leverage level) of the outstanding balance under the Notes, provided that the incremental annual cost related to our credit profile and leverage cannot exceed 2.00% per annum. Finally, the Notes are subject to a make-whole premium in connection with certain prepayment events. As a result of the 2017 amendments described below, our debt obligations under the Notes are required to be repaid in connection with the consummation of the Combination. The Notes have financial and restrictive covenants described further below.

Compliance and Other—As a result of noncompliance with certain financial covenants during 2017, and in connection with the decision to pursue the Combination, we entered into a series of amendments for our Committed Facilities, Term Loan and Notes (collectively, the "Senior Facilities") during 2017. The amendments adjusted certain original and amended financial and restrictive covenants, introduced new financial and restrictive covenants, and waived noncompliance with certain covenants and other defaults and events of default. The amendments:

Require us to secure the Senior Facilities through the pledge of cash, accounts receivable, inventory, fixed assets, certain real property, and stock of subsidiaries, which resulted in substantially all of our assets, subject to customary exceptions, being pledged as collateral for our Senior Facilities.

Prohibit mergers and acquisitions (other than the Combination), open-market share repurchases and dividend payments and certain inter-company transactions.

Require us to repay portions of the Senior Facilities with the issuance of any unsecured debt that is subordinate ("Subordinated Debt") to the Senior Facilities, the issuance of any equity securities, or the sale of any assets. Provide for required minimum levels of trailing 12-month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") as follows: \$500.0 million at March 31, 2018, \$500.0 million at June 30, 2018, \$550.0 million at September 30, 2018, and \$575.0 million at December 31, 2018 and each quarter thereafter. Trailing \$\frac{1}{2}\$-month EBITDA for purposes of determining compliance with the Minimum EBITDA covenant is adjusted to exclude: an agreed amount attributable to restructuring or integration charges during the third and fourth quarters of 2017 and an agreed amount attributable to charges on certain projects which occurred during 2017 (collectively, the "EBITDA Addbacks").

Provide for a maximum leverage ratio of 1.75 ("Maximum Leverage Ratio") and a minimum fixed charge ratio of 2.25 ("Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio"), but waive any noncompliance with the Maximum Leverage Ratio or Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio beginning on December 18, 2017 and ending on the earlier of (i) June 18, 2018 or (ii) the occurrence of certain Combination termination events (the "Covenant Relief Period"). Trailing 12-month EBITDA for purposes of determining compliance with the Maximum Leverage Ratio and consolidated net income for purposes of determining compliance with the Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio would be adjusted for the EBITDA Addbacks.

Extend the maturity of the Series A Senior Notes, from December 27, 2017 to August 31, 2018.

Requires us to maintain a minimum aggregate availability under our Committed Facilities, including borrowings and letters of credit, of \$50.0 million during the Covenant Relief Period, and \$250.0 million thereafter.

Limit the amount of certain of our funded indebtedness to \$2.9 billion less the aggregate amount of all scheduled repayments and mandatory prepayments of such funded indebtedness, but for the duration of the Covenant Relief Period, increase the limit from \$3.0 billion to \$3.1 billion.

Provide for the: (i) filing of a joint proxy statement/prospectus ("Form S-4") by February 15, 2018, (ii) filing of a solicitation/recommendation statement on Schedule 14D-9 as promptly as reasonably practicable following (but in any event by no later than 10 business days after) the commencement of the exchange offer related to the Combination, and (iii) duly calling and giving notice of a meeting of the Company's shareholders as promptly as reasonably practicable after the Form S-4 is declared effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (but in any event by no later than May 18, 2018) (collectively, the "Combination Milestones"). Each of the Combination Milestones was achieved during the first quarter 2018.

Provide for completion of the Combination by June 18, 2018 (the "Combination Closing Deadline").

Provide for the mandatory repayment of the outstanding debt under the Senior Facilities on the day of the closing of the Combination, which in the case of the Notes, is to be at the price of the make-whole amount as modified by the amendments. At March 31, 2018, we had an accrual of approximately \$27.7 million within accrued liabilities related to the anticipated modified make-whole payment.

Table of Contents

Provide for certain events of default in respect of the Combination, including: (i) termination of documentation related to the Combination, (ii) failure of the applicable proposals related to the Combination to be brought for a vote by the shareholders of the Company or McDermott, (iii) the failure of the shareholders of either McDermott or the Company to approve the applicable proposals related to the Combination at their respective shareholder meetings, subject to a seven day grace period, (iv) the supervisory board of directors of the Company changing its recommendation to the Company's shareholders in respect of the Combination, or (v) the failure of certain financing commitments in respect of the Combination, subject to customary minimum thresholds.

Provide for certain other information and modified reporting rights, modifications to mandatory prepayment requirements, and consent rights of the holders of the outstanding Notes and administrative agents of the Bank Facilities as more fully set forth in the amendments.

At March 31, 2018, we were in compliance with our restrictive and financial covenants, with a trailing 12-month EBITDA of \$615.0 million, and aggregate availability under our Committed Facilities of at least \$121.0 million at all times during the three months ended March 31, 2018. Based on our forecasted EBITDA and cash flows, we project future compliance with our financial covenants through the Combination Closing Deadline. Further, we have successfully achieved the various Combination Milestones required by our 2017 amendments, and believe it is probable we will complete the Combination by the Combination Closing Deadline. Although we do not project future loan compliance violations through the Combination Closing Deadline, due to the requirement for our debt obligations to be repaid in connection with the Combination, debt of approximately \$966.1 million, which by its terms is due beyond one year and would otherwise be shown as long-term, has been classified as current.

Our plan to maintain compliance with our covenants, satisfy our debt obligations, and continue as a going concern is to complete the aforementioned Combination, with no further financing alternatives beyond the Combination. Absent this plan, we would be unable to satisfy our debt obligations, raising substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern; however, the Combination alleviates the substantial doubt.

The consummation of the Combination is subject to customary closing conditions, including but not limited to: receipt of required regulatory approvals; approval of certain proposals by our shareholders and the stockholders of McDermott; the availability of the transaction-related financing; the accuracy of representations and warranties of McDermott and the Company (including the absence of a material adverse effect with respect to each of McDermott's and the Company's respective businesses); and each party's compliance with their covenants, subject to materiality qualifiers. We may be unable to satisfy the conditions to closing of the Combination, within the required timeframe or at all. In addition, our ability to consummate the Combination and generate cash flows from operations, access funding under our Committed and Uncommitted Facilities, and comply with our financial and other covenants through the Combination Closing Deadline, may also be impacted by a variety of business, economic, legislative, financial and other factors which may be outside of our control, including, but not limited to: the delay or cancellation of projects; decreased profitability on our projects; decreased cash flows on our projects due to the timing of receipts and required payments of liabilities and funding of our loss projects; the timing of approval or settlement of unapproved change orders and claims; changes in foreign currency exchange or interest rates; performance of pension plan assets; changes in actuarial assumptions; the inability to obtain required regulatory approvals on acceptable terms and within the required timeframe; the failure of the shareholders of either the Company or McDermott to approve their respective merger-related proposals; or conditions to closing of the Combination due to negative developments in the Company's business or otherwise. Further, we could be impacted if our customers experience a material change in their ability to pay us or if the banks associated with our lending facilities were to cease or reduce operations, or if there is a full or partial break-up of the EU or its currency, the Euro. If we were unable to maintain compliance with our covenants or timely consummate the Combination our debt would become immediately due, which would require further amendments from the administrative agents for our Bank Facilities and holders of a majority of the outstanding Notes (collectively, "Lender(s)"). In addition, we would be required to renew or replace the capacity under our Revolving Facility (which expires in October 2018) and Second Revolving Facility, obtain relief from payment of our Series A Notes (which are due in August 2018), and initiate revised plans to maintain compliance with any amended covenants and to ensure sufficient liquidity, all of which would require Lender approval. There can be no assurances that our Lenders will provide us with any necessary waivers or amendments if we were unable to maintain compliance with

our financial or other covenants or complete the Combination.

In addition to the above, our Uncommitted Facilities share pari passu in the liens securing the Senior Facilities subject to a cap of \$500.0 million. There can be no assurance that these outstanding letters of credit will be renewed on their scheduled annual renewal dates or that new letters of credit can be sourced from our Uncommitted Facilities. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will have sufficient capacity under our Senior Facilities for replacement of such letters of credit or new letters of credit, if required.

Table of Contents

In addition to providing letters of credit, we also issue surety bonds in the ordinary course of business to support our contract performance. At March 31, 2018, we had \$339.1 million of outstanding surety bonds in support of our projects. In addition, we had \$404.6 million of surety bonds maintained on behalf of our former Capital Services Operations, for which we have received an indemnity from CSVC. We also continue to maintain guarantees on behalf of our former Capital Services Operations in support of approximately \$50.1 million of backlog, for which we have also received an indemnity.

Other

Although we currently have uncommitted bonding facilities, a termination or reduction of these bonding facilities could result in the utilization of letters of credit in lieu of performance bonds, thereby reducing the available capacity under the Committed Facilities. Although we do not anticipate a reduction or termination of our bonding facilities, there can be no assurance that such facilities will continue to be available at reasonable terms to meet our ordinary course requirements.

A portion of our pension plans' assets are invested in EU government securities, which could be impacted by economic turmoil in Europe or a full or partial break-up of the EU or its currency, the Euro. However, given the long-term nature of pension funding requirements, in the event any of our pension plans (including those with investments in EU government securities) become materially underfunded from a decline in value of our plan assets, we believe our cash on hand, proceeds from divestitures, and amounts available under our existing Committed Facilities and Uncommitted Facilities would be sufficient to fund any increases in future contribution requirements.

We are a defendant in a number of lawsuits arising in the normal course of business and we have in place insurance coverage that we believe is appropriate for the type of work that we perform. As a matter of practice, we review our litigation accrual quarterly and as further information is known on pending cases, increases or decreases, as appropriate, may be recorded. See Note 12 to our Financial Statements for a discussion of pending litigation.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We use operating leases for facilities and equipment when they make economic sense, including sale-leaseback arrangements. Our sale-leaseback arrangements are not material to our Financial Statements, and we have no other significant off-balance sheet arrangements.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See the applicable section of Note 2 to our Financial Statements for a discussion of new accounting standards. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We continually evaluate our estimates based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our management has discussed the development and selection of our critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of our Supervisory Board. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

Contracts—Our revenue is primarily derived from long-term contracts with customers and we determine the appropriate accounting treatment for each contract at contract inception. Our contracts primarily relate to engineering, procurement and construction ("EPC") services; engineering services; construction services; pipe and steel fabrication services; engineered and manufactured products; technology licensing; and catalyst supply. An EPC contract may also include technology licensing or fabrication services and our services may be provided between, or amongst, our reportable segments.

Our contracts are awarded on a competitively bid and negotiated basis and the timing of revenue recognition may be impacted by the terms of such contracts. We use a range of contracting options, including cost-reimbursable, fixed-price and hybrid, which has both cost-reimbursable and fixed-price characteristics. Fixed-price contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant fixed-price component, tend to provide us with greater control over project

schedule and the timing of when work is performed and costs are incurred, and accordingly, when revenue is recognized. Cost-reimbursable contracts, and hybrid contracts with a more significant cost-reimbursable component, generally provide our customers with greater influence over the timing of when we perform our work, and accordingly, such contracts often result in less predictability with respect to the timing of revenue recognition. Performance Obligations—A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the unit of account in ASC Topic 606. The transaction price of a contract is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. To the extent a contract

Table of Contents

is deemed to have multiple performance obligations, we allocate the transaction price of the contract to each performance obligation using our best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. In addition, certain contracts may be combined and deemed to be a single performance obligation. Our EPC contracts are generally deemed to be single performance obligations and our contracts with multiple performance obligations were not material as of March 31, 2018.

Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time—Revenue for our contracts that satisfy the criteria for over time recognition is recognized as the work progresses. Revenue for contracts recognized over time include our EPC services; engineering services; construction services; pipe and steel fabrication services; engineered and manufactured products; technology licensing; and "non-generic" catalyst supply. We measure transfer of control of the performance obligation utilizing the cost-to-cost measure of progress, with cost of revenue including direct costs, such as materials and labor, and indirect costs that are attributable to contract activity. Under the cost-to-cost approach, the use of estimated costs to complete each performance obligation is a significant variable in the process of determining recognized revenue and is a significant factor in the accounting for such performance obligations. Significant estimates that impact the cost to complete each performance obligation are: costs of engineering, materials, components, equipment, labor and subcontracts; labor productivity; schedule durations, including subcontractor or supplier progress; contract disputes, including claims; achievement of contractual performance requirements; and contingency, among others. The cumulative impact of revisions in total cost estimates during the progress of work is reflected in the period in which these changes become known, including, to the extent required, the reversal of profit recognized in prior periods and the recognition of losses expected to be incurred on performance obligations in progress. Due to the various estimates inherent in our contract accounting, actual results could differ from those estimates, which could result in material changes to our Financial Statements and related disclosures. Performance Obligations Satisfied at a Point in Time—Revenue for our contracts that do not satisfy the criteria for over time recognition is recognized at a point in time. Revenue for contracts recognized at a point in time include our "generic" catalyst supply and certain manufactured products (which are recognized upon shipment) and certain non-engineering and non-construction services (which are recognized when the services are performed). Precontract costs are generally charged to cost of revenue as incurred, but in certain cases their recognition may be deferred if specific probability criteria are met. We had no significant deferred precontract costs at March 31, 2018. Variable Consideration—Transaction price for our contracts may include variable consideration, which includes increases to transaction price for approved and unapproved change orders, claims and incentives, and reductions to transaction price for liquidated damages. Change orders, claims and incentives are generally not distinct from the existing contract due to the significant integration service provided in the context of the contract and are accounted for as a modification of the existing contract and performance obligation. We estimate variable consideration for a performance obligation at the most likely amount to which we expect to be entitled (or the most likely amount we expect to incur in the case of liquidated damages), utilizing estimation methods that best predict the amount of consideration to which we will be entitled (or will be incurred in the case of liquidated damages). We include variable consideration in the estimated transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur or when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. Our estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in transaction price are based largely on an assessment of our anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available to us. The effect of variable consideration on the transaction price of a performance obligation is recognized as an adjustment to revenue on a cumulative catch-up basis. To the extent unapproved change orders and claims reflected in transaction price (or excluded from transaction price in the case of liquidated damages) are not resolved in our favor, or to the extent incentives reflected in transaction price are not earned, there could be reductions in, or reversals of, previously recognized revenue. See Note 16 to our Financial Statements for further discussion of our recorded unapproved change orders, claims and incentives. Goodwill

At March 31, 2018, our goodwill balance was \$2.8 billion. Goodwill is not amortized to earnings, but instead is reviewed for impairment at least annually at a reporting unit level, absent any indicators of impairment or when other actions require an impairment assessment (such as a change in reporting units). We perform our annual impairment

assessment during the fourth quarter of each year based on balances as of October 1.

Reporting Units—At December 31, 2017, we had the following four reporting units within our three operating groups:

Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit.

Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group included two reporting units: Engineered Products and Fabrication Services (excluding Engineered Products).

•Technology—Our Technology operating group represented a reporting unit.

Table of Contents

During the first quarter 2018, we realigned our Fabrication Services and Technology operating groups to reflect the present management oversight of our operations. Our "Engineered Products Operations", which was previously reported within our Fabrication Services operating group, is now reported within our Technology operating group. In connection therewith, our Engineered Products reporting unit, which was previously a reporting unit with our Fabrication Services operating group, became a reporting unit within our Technology operating group. Accordingly, at March 31, 2018, we had the following four reporting units within our three operating groups:

Engineering & Construction—Our Engineering & Construction operating group represented a reporting unit. Fabrication Services—Our Fabrication Services operating group represented a reporting unit.

Technology—Our Technology operating group included two reporting units: Engineered Products and Technology (excluding Engineered Products).

Impairment Assessment—During the fourth quarter 2017, we performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill for the aforementioned reporting units. Based on these quantitative assessments, the fair value of each of the reporting units substantially exceeded (in excess of 50%) their respective net book values, and accordingly, no impairment charge was necessary as a result of our impairment assessments. Further, during the first quarter 2018, no indicators of impairment were identified for any of our reporting units. In addition, no impairment assessments were required in connection with the realignment of our operating groups because the Engineered Products reporting unit represented a separate reporting unit before and after the realignment.

Determination of Reporting Unit Fair Values—To determine the fair value of our reporting units and test for impairment, we utilize an income approach (discounted cash flow method) as we believe this is the most direct approach to incorporate the specific economic attributes and risk profiles of our reporting units into our valuation model. This is consistent with the methodology used to determine the fair value of our reporting units in previous years. We generally do not utilize a market approach given the lack of relevant information generated by market transactions involving comparable businesses. However, to the extent market indicators of fair value become available, we consider such market indicators in our discounted cash flow analysis and determination of fair value. The discounted cash flow methodology is based, to a large extent, on assumptions about future events, which may or may not occur as anticipated, and such deviations could have a significant impact on the calculated estimated fair values of our reporting units. These assumptions include, but are not limited to, estimates of discount rates, future growth rates, and terminal values for each reporting unit.

The discounted cash flow analysis for our reporting units tested during the fourth quarter 2017 included forecasted cash flows for the fourth quarter 2017 and a seven-year forecast period (2018 through 2024), with our 2018 business plan used as the basis for our 2018 projections. These forecasted cash flows took into consideration historical and recent results, the reporting unit's backlog and near term prospects, and management's outlook for the future. A terminal value was also calculated using a terminal value growth assumption to derive the annual cash flows after the discrete forecast period. A reporting unit specific discount rate was applied to the forecasted cash flows and terminal cash flows to determine the discounted future cash flows, or fair value, of each reporting unit.

See Note 7 to our Financial Statements for additional discussion of our goodwill.

Other Long-Lived Assets

We amortize our finite-lived intangible assets on a straight-line basis with lives ranging from 6 to 20 years, absent any indicators of impairment. We review tangible assets and finite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a recoverability assessment is required, the estimated future cash flow associated with the asset or asset group will be compared to their respective carrying amounts to determine if an impairment exists. During the first three months of 2018, we noted no indicators of impairment. See Note 7 to our Financial Statements for further discussion of our intangible assets.

Income Taxes

Deferred Tax Realization Assessments—Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis using currently enacted income tax rates for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance ("VA") is provided to offset any net deferred tax assets ("DTA(s)") if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the DTAs will not be realized. The

realization of our net DTAs depends upon our ability to generate sufficient future taxable income of the appropriate character and in the appropriate jurisdictions.

On a periodic and ongoing basis we evaluate our DTAs (including our net operating loss ("NOL") DTAs) and assess the appropriateness of our VAs. In assessing the need for a VA, we consider both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the DTAs. If, based on the weight of available evidence, our assessment indicates that it is more likely than not that a DTA will not be realized, we record a VA. Our assessments include, among other things, the amount of

Table of Contents

taxable temporary differences that will result in future taxable income, the value and quality of our backlog, evaluations of existing and anticipated market conditions, analysis of recent and historical operating results (including cumulative losses over multiple periods) and projections of future results, strategic plans and alternatives for associated operations, as well as asset expiration dates, where applicable. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had a VA against our U.S. net operating loss DTAs, and our remaining U.S. and non-U.S. net DTAs, as we do not believe it is more likely than not that we will utilize our net DTAs. See our 2017 Form 10-K for further discussion of our VA assessments.

If the factors upon which we based our assessment of realizability of our DTAs differ materially from our expectations, including future operating results being lower than our current estimates, our future assessments could be impacted and result in an increase in VA and increase in tax expense.

Other Tax Assessments—Income tax and associated interest and penalty reserves, where applicable, are recorded in those instances where we consider it more likely than not that additional tax will be due in excess of amounts reflected in income tax returns filed worldwide, irrespective of whether or not we have received tax assessments. We continually review our exposure to additional income tax obligations and, as further information is known or events occur, changes in our tax and penalty reserves may be recorded within income tax expense and changes in interest reserves may be recorded in interest expense.

We recognized the provisional tax impacts of the Tax Reform Act in the fourth quarter 2017. During first quarter 2018, we did not receive any additional information regarding these provisional calculations. As a result, we continue to anticipate finalizing our analysis in connection with the completion of our tax return for 2017 to be filed in 2018. Insurance

We maintain insurance coverage for various aspects of our business and operations. However, we retain a portion of anticipated losses through the use of deductibles and self-insured retentions for our exposures related to third party liability and workers' compensation. We regularly review estimates of reported and unreported claims through analysis of historical and projected trends, in conjunction with actuaries and other consultants, and provide for losses through insurance reserves. As claims develop and additional information becomes available, adjustments to loss reserves may be required. If actual results are not consistent with our assumptions, we may be exposed to gains or losses that could be material.

Partnering Arrangements

In the ordinary course of business, we execute specific projects and conduct certain operations through joint venture, consortium and other collaborative arrangements (collectively referred to as "venture(s)"). We have various ownership interests in these ventures, with such ownership typically proportionate to our decision making and distribution rights. The ventures generally contract directly with the third party customer; however, services may be performed directly by the ventures, or may be performed by us, our partners, or a combination thereof.

Venture net assets consist primarily of working capital and property and equipment, and assets may be restricted from being used to fund obligations outside of the venture. These ventures typically have limited third party debt or have debt that is non-recourse in nature. However, they may provide for capital calls to fund operations or require participants in the venture to provide additional financial support, including advance payment or retention letters of credit.

Each venture is assessed at inception and on an ongoing basis as to whether it qualifies as a VIE under the consolidations guidance in ASC 810. A venture generally qualifies as a VIE when it (i) meets the definition of a legal entity, (ii) absorbs the operational risk of the projects being executed, creating a variable interest, and (iii) lacks sufficient capital investment from the partners, potentially resulting in the venture requiring additional subordinated financial support, if necessary, to finance its future activities.

If at any time a venture qualifies as a VIE, we perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE and, therefore, need to consolidate the VIE. We are the primary beneficiary if we have (i) the power to direct the economically significant activities of the VIE and (ii) the right to receive benefits from, and obligation to absorb losses of, the VIE. If the venture is a VIE and we are the primary beneficiary, or we otherwise have the ability to control the venture, we consolidate the venture. If we determine that we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIE, or only have the ability to significantly influence, rather than control the venture, we do not

consolidate the venture. We account for unconsolidated ventures using either (i) proportionate consolidation for both the Balance Sheet and Statement of Operations, when we meet the applicable accounting criteria to do so, or (ii) utilize the equity method. See Note 8 to our Financial Statements for further discussion of our material partnering arrangements.

Table of Contents

Financial Instruments

We do not engage in currency speculation; however, we utilize foreign currency exchange rate derivatives on an ongoing basis to hedge against certain foreign currency related operating exposures. We generally seek hedge accounting treatment for contracts used to hedge operating exposures and designate them as cash flow hedges. Therefore, gains and losses, exclusive of credit risk and forward points (which represent the time value component of the fair value of our derivative positions), are included in AOCI until the associated underlying operating exposure impacts our earnings. Changes in the fair value of (i) credit risk and forward points, (ii) instruments deemed ineffective during the period, and (iii) instruments that we do not designate as cash flow hedges are recognized within cost of revenue.

For those contracts designated as cash flow hedges, we document all relationships between the derivative instruments and associated hedged items, as well as our risk-management objectives and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives to specific firm commitments or highly-probable forecasted transactions. We continually assess, at inception and on an ongoing basis, the effectiveness of derivative instruments in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the designated hedged items. Hedge accounting designation is discontinued when (i) it is determined that the derivative is no longer highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the hedged item, including firm commitments or forecasted transactions, (ii) the derivative is sold, terminated, exercised, or expires, (iii) it is no longer probable that the forecasted transaction will occur, or (iv) we determine that designating the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate. See Note 11 to our Financial Statements for further discussion of our financial instruments.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q, including all documents incorporated by reference, contains forward-looking statements regarding CB&I and represents our expectations and beliefs concerning future events. These forward-looking statements are intended to be covered by the safe harbor for forward-looking statements provided by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 as set forth in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. The forward-looking statements included herein or incorporated herein by reference include or may include, but are not limited to, (and you should read carefully) any statements that are predictive in nature, depend upon or refer to future events or conditions, or use or contain words, terms, phrases, or expressions such as "achieve," "forecast," "plan," "propose," "strategy," "envision," "hope," "will," "contine "potential," "expect," "believe," "anticipate," "project," "estimate," "predict," "intend," "should," "could," "may," "might," or terms, phrases, or expressions or the negative of any of these terms. Any statements in this prospectus that are not based upon historical fact are forward-looking statements and represent our best judgment as to what may occur in the future

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. In addition to the material risks listed under "Item 1A. Risk Factors," as set forth in our Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the year ended December 31, 2017 that may cause business conditions or our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements, the following are some, but not all, of the factors that might cause business conditions or our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements, or contribute to such differences:

our ability to satisfy the conditions to closing of the proposed business combination with McDermott, and to complete such combination, on the anticipated time frame or at all;

business uncertainties and operating restrictions during the pendency of the proposed combination with McDermott; restrictions on our ability to pursue alternatives to the combination with McDermott;

our ability to realize cost savings from our expected performance of contracts, whether as a result of improper estimates, performance, or otherwise;

uncertain timing and funding of new contract awards, as well as project cancellations;

our ability to fully realize the revenue value reported in our backlog;

cost overruns on fixed-price or similar contracts or failure to receive timely or proper payments on cost-reimbursable contracts, whether as a result of improper estimates, performance, disputes, or otherwise;

 \P isks associated with labor productivity;

risks associated with percentage-of-completion accounting; our ability to settle or negotiate unapproved change orders and claims and estimates regarding liquidated damages;

changes in the costs or availability of, or delivery schedule for, equipment, components, materials, labor or subcontractors;

Table of Contents

adverse impacts from weather affecting our performance and timeliness of completion, which could lead to increased costs and affect the quality, costs or availability of, or delivery schedule for, equipment, components, materials, labor or subcontractors;

operating risks, which could lead to increased costs and affect the quality, costs or availability of, or delivery schedule for, equipment, components, materials, labor or subcontractors;

increased competition;

fluctuating revenue resulting from a number of factors, including a decline in energy prices and the cyclical nature of the individual markets in which our customers operate;

delayed or lower than expected activity in the energy and natural resource industries, demand from which is the largest component of our revenue;

future levels of demand, including expectations regarding: planned investments across the natural gas value chain, including LNG and petrochemicals; continued investments in projects based on U.S. shale gas; global investments in power and petrochemical facilities are expected to continue; and investments in various types of facilities that require storage structures and pre-fabricated pipe.

expectations regarding future compliance with our financial and other covenants and our ability to obtain waivers or amendments to the agreements governing our primary financing arrangements, should such waivers or amendments be required;

estimates regarding the likelihood and timing of completion of the Combination;

the non-competitiveness or unavailability of, or lack of demand or loss of legal protection for, our intellectual property assets or rights;

failure to keep pace with technological changes or innovation;

failure of our patents or licensed technologies to perform as expected or to remain competitive, current, in demand, profitable or enforceable;

adverse outcomes of pending claims or litigation or the possibility of new claims or litigation, and the potential effect of such claims or litigation on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flow;

lack of necessary liquidity to provide bid, performance, advance payment and retention bonds, guarantees, or letters of credit securing our obligations under our bids and contracts or to finance expenditures prior to the receipt of payment for the performance of contracts;

proposed and actual revisions to U.S. and non-U.S. tax laws, and interpretation of said laws, Dutch tax treaties with foreign countries and U.S. tax treaties with non-U.S. countries (including, but not limited to, The Netherlands), which would seek to increase income taxes payable;

expectations regarding defined benefit pension and other postretirement plan contributions and investment performance;

political and economic conditions including, but not limited to, war, conflict or civil or economic unrest in countries in which we operate;

compliance with applicable laws and regulations in any one or more of the countries in which we operate including, but not limited to, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and those concerning the environment, export controls, anti-money laundering and trade sanction programs;

foreign currency risk and our inability to properly manage or hedge currency or similar risks; and a downturn, disruption, or stagnation in the economy in general.

Although we believe the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future performance or results. You should not unduly rely on any one forward-looking statement or these forward-looking statements in general. Each forward-looking statement is made and applies only as of the date of the particular statement, and we are not obligated to update, withdraw, or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. You should consider these risks when reading any forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements attributed or attributable to us or to persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by this section entitled "Forward-Looking Statements".

Table of Contents

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk—We are exposed to market risk associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which may adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

One form of exposure to fluctuating exchange rates relates to the effects of translating financial statements of entities with functional currencies other than the U.S. Dollar into our reporting currency. With respect to the translation of our balance sheet, net movements in the British Pound and Euro exchange rates against the U.S. Dollar favorably impacted the cumulative translation adjustment component of AOCI by approximately \$16.3 million, net of tax, and our cash balance was favorably impacted by approximately \$7.7 million. We generally do not hedge our exposure to potential foreign currency translation adjustments.

Another form of exposure to fluctuating exchange rates relates to the effects of transacting in currencies other than those of our entity's functional currencies. We do not engage in currency speculation; however, we utilize foreign currency exchange rate derivatives on an ongoing basis to hedge against certain foreign currency related operating exposures. We generally seek hedge accounting treatment for contracts used to hedge operating exposures and designate them as cash flow hedges. Therefore, gains and losses, exclusive of credit risk and forward points (which represent the time value component of the fair value of our derivative positions), are included in AOCI until the associated underlying operating exposure impacts our earnings. Changes in the fair value of (i) credit risk and forward points, (ii) instruments deemed ineffective during the period, and (iii) instruments that we do not designate as cash flow hedges are recognized within cost of revenue and were not material during the first three months of 2018. At March 31, 2018, the notional value of our outstanding forward contracts to hedge certain foreign currency exchange-related operating exposures was \$119.3 million, including net foreign currency exchange rate exposure associated with the purchase of Thai Baht (\$36.5 million), Russian Rubles (\$35.9 million) and Japanese Yen (\$3.3 million), and the sale of U.S. Dollars (\$22.3 million) and Euros (\$21.3 million). The total fair value of these contracts was a net liability of approximately \$5.9 million at March 31, 2018. The potential change in fair value for our outstanding contracts resulting from a hypothetical ten percent change in quoted foreign currency exchange rates would have been approximately \$19.4 million and \$6.9 million at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. This potential change in fair value of our outstanding contracts would be offset by the change in fair value of the associated underlying operating exposures.

Other—The carrying values of our cash and cash equivalents (primarily consisting of bank deposits), accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair value of our Second Term Loan, based on current market rates for debt with similar credit risk and maturities, approximated its carrying values as interest is based upon LIBOR plus an applicable floating margin. At March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair values of our Senior Notes and Second Senior Notes, based on the current market rates for debt with similar credit risk and maturities, approximated the carrying values due to their classification as current on our Balance Sheet. See Note 11 to our Financial Statements for additional discussion of our financial instruments.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures—For the period covered by this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Based upon such evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Control—There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the first quarter 2018, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

For information regarding ongoing litigation and other proceedings, see Note 13 to our Financial Statements in Part I of this report, which we incorporate by reference into this Item.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to risk factors as previously disclosed under Item "1A. Risk Factors" in Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on February 21, 2018.

Table of Contents

Item 6. Exhibits (a) Exhibits	
3.1 ⁽¹⁾	Amended Articles of Association of the Company (English translation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 to CB&I's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, filed with the SEC on August 8, 2005 (File No. 1-12815))
31.1 (2)	Certification of the Company's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13A-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 (2)	Certification of the Company's Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13A-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 ⁽²⁾	Certification of the Company's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 (2)	Certification of the Company's Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS ^{(2),(3)}	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH (2),(3)	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL (2),(3)	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF (2),(3)	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB (2),(3)	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE (2),(3) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (1)Incorporated by reference to the filing indicated (2)Filed herewith Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, (ii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three months	
December 3 31, 2018 and	in 31, 2018 and 2017, (iii) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2018 and 1, 2017, (iv) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 2017, (v) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the three and March 31, 2018 and 2017, and (vi) the Notes to Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on April 23, 2018.

Chicago Bridge & Iron Company N.V. By: Chicago Bridge & Iron Company B.V.

Its: Managing Director

By: /s/ Michael S. Taff
Michael S. Taff
Managing Director
(Principal Financial Officer and Duly Authorized Officer)